
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Monday, 15 October 2018

Committee: 
South Planning Committee

Date: Tuesday, 23 October 2018
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, SY2 6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee Substitute Members of the Committee
David Evans (Chairman)
David Turner (Vice Chairman)
Andy Boddington
Gwilym Butler
Simon Harris
Nigel Hartin
Richard Huffer
Madge Shineton
Robert Tindall
Michael Wood
Tina Woodward

Jonny Keeley
Heather Kidd
Christian Lea
Elliott Lynch
Cecilia Motley
William Parr
Vivienne Parry
Kevin Turley
Leslie Winwood

Your Committee Officer is: 

Linda Jeavons  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257716
Email:  linda.jeavons@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Apologies for Absence 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm the minutes of the South Planning Committee meeting held on 25 September 
2018.

Contact Linda Jeavons (01743) 257716.

3 Public Question Time 

To receive any questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has been given in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this meeting is no later than 24 
hours prior to the commencement of the meeting.

4 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on any 
matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the room 
prior to the commencement of the debate.

5 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ 
(17/05170/FUL) (Pages 9 - 22)

Construction of 5 No. Independent Living Affordable residential dwellings.

6 Barn South West Of The Grove, Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire (18/03585/FUL) 
(Pages 23 - 48)

Conversion and extension to redundant agricultural building to form one dwelling and 
garage; change of use of agricultural land to form domestic curtilage; formation of 
vehicular access, and; installation of package treatment plant.

7 Barn South West Of The Grove, Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire (18/03586/LBC) 
(Pages 49 - 62)

Conversion and extension to redundant agricultural building to form one dwelling and 
garage; change of use of agricultural land to form domestic curtilage; formation of 
vehicular access, and; installation of package treatment plant.

8 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions (Pages 63 - 68)

9 Date of the Next Meeting 

To note that the next meeting of the South Planning Committee will be held at 
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 20 November 2018, in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall.



 
Committee and Date

South Planning Committee

23 October 2018

SOUTH PLANNING COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2018
2.00  - 4.55 pm in the Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 
Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND

Responsible Officer:    Linda Jeavons
Email:  linda.jeavons@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257716

Present 
Councillor David Evans (Chairman)
Councillors David Turner (Vice Chairman), Gwilym Butler, Simon Harris, Nigel Hartin, 
Richard Huffer, Madge Shineton, Robert Tindall and Tina Woodward

13 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Andy Boddington and Michael 
Wood.

14 Minutes 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting of the South Planning Committee held on 5 June 
2018 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

15 Public Question Time 

There were no public questions or petitions received.

16 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on 
any matter in which they had a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the 
room prior to the commencement of the debate.

With reference to planning application 17/04546/EIA, Councillor David Evans 
declared that he was acquainted with the applicant and the applicant was a customer 
and held an account at his shop and therefore he would leave the room and take no 
part in the consideration of this item.  

With reference to planning application 17/04546/EIA, Councillor Robert Tindall 
declared that he was well acquainted with the applicant and his wife. For reasons of 
perceived bias, he would leave the room and take no part in the consideration of this 
item.



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 25 September 2018

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 2

17 Land near Shipley, Bridgnorth Road, Shipley, Shropshire (17/05303/MAW) 

The Principal Planner introduced the application and with reference to the drawings 
displayed, he drew Members’ attention to the location, layout and elevations.  

Members had undertaken a site visit and had viewed the site and had assessed the 
impact of a proposal on the surrounding area.  

Members noted the additional information as set out in the Schedule of Additional 
Letters circulated prior to the meeting.

Councillor R Cotham, representing Claverley Parish Council, spoke against the 
proposal in accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning 
Committees.

Councillor E Aldridge, representing Worfield and Rudge Parish Council, spoke 
against the proposal in accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at 
Planning Committees.

Mr H Richards, representing local residents, spoke against the proposal in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees.

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor Tina Woodward, as local Ward 
Councillor, made a statement and then left the table, took no part in the debate and 
did not vote on this item.  During her statement, the following points were raised:

 There had been a high level of objections and concerns raised regarding the 
implications the quarry would have on such a sensitive Green Belt location;

 Issues remained regarding the complex hydrological setting of the site.  Those 
who were familiar with the location and relied on the water from the site for 
their livelihoods and personal water supply continued to raise concerns;

 She questioned how introducing a hydrological monitoring scheme without a 
greater understanding of the complexity of the perched water, springs and 
current flows and water deposits over the whole site would be effective – small 
changes may not be viewed as serious until it was potentially too late.  The 
Environment Agency had highlighted its preference to address the lack of site 
specific data and conceptual uncertainties, including baseline date, prior to the 
granting of planning permission;

 The ancient woodland of Cannebuff and its companion landscape in the 
Green Belt was worthy of the highest protection the Council could offer, as per 
the adopted National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018; however, this 
should not come before the needs of the local residents affected by the 
potential quarry but should be considered in conjunction with each other - the 
landscape and the people fit together;

 Two Identified residents whose respective health conditions would be highly 
disadvantaged should their homes be affected by airborne particles.  She was 
concerned that the haul route ran along two sides of Naboth’s Vineyard and 



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 25 September 2018

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 3

remained close to proposed works even as amended.  During the site visit she 
noted that the wind swept over the proposed site towards Gardenland;

 She referred Members to the many concerns expressed regarding the safety 
and speed of traffic on the A454;

 She acknowledged the Officer’s report regarding the need for this quarry set 
against Shropshire Council’s relevant Policies and the Minerals Local Plan for 
Staffordshire 2015 to 2030, Local Aggregate Assessment October 2017, 
based on their figure of 5 million tonnes per annum and projected production 
capacity;

 She urged refusal, but if granted she welcomed strengthened conditions 
regarding the impact on private water supplies, including alternative supplies 
such as mains water connection at the applicant’s cost and for Members to 
explore the option of introducing a 50 mph speed limit for the full length of the 
route, introduction of speed cameras, flashing signs to indicate when quarry 
vehicles are at the junction with the A454 and a financial contribution from the 
applicant to fund any necessary highway safety improvements.

Mr D Hardy, the agent, spoke for the proposal in accordance with the Council’s 
Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees.  With the permission of the 
Chairman and due to the fact that additional speakers had been permitted to speak against the 
proposal, the applicant was permitted to speak for up to six minutes.  He responded to 
questions from Members and confirmed that an alternative access located to the north east of 
the site had been discounted as not being as suitable as the proposed access arrangements. He 
confirmed that appropriate conditions to control dust levels would be attached to any 
permission.

In the ensuing debate, Members considered the submitted plans and noted the 
comments of all speakers.  In response to questions and concerns the Principal 
Planner provided clarification on landbank requirements for Shropshire and 
Staffordshire and confirmed that there would be no development of the site at 
Barnsley Lane.  He further explained that the proposal was compliant with SAMDev 
policy MD5(3).  Health issues were addressed in the report and Regulatory Services 
had not objected.  Detailed air quality monitoring would apply.  In terms of hydrology 
sufficient information had been submitted to allow determination.  The Environment 
Agency had not objected and appropriate conditions relating to hydrology would be 
attached to any permission.  A further clause could be imposed requiring the 
applicant to compensate any affected third parties in the event that, notwithstanding 
the applicant’s consultant’s conclusions, adverse impacts on local water supplies 
were encountered.  Additional funding could also be sought from the applicant to 
address highway safety concerns.  A Local Liaison Group, convened and managed 
by the applicant, would provide a forum for the local community to share information 
and discuss any concerns with the applicant. 

RESOLVED:

That, as per the Officer’s recommendation, planning permission be granted, subject 
to:



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 25 September 2018

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 4

 The conditions and legal obligations as set out in Appendix 1 of the report, 
subject to:

The wording “unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority” being deleted from Conditions 30, 33, 35 and 37; and
The amendments to conditions as suggested by the Environment Agency and as 
detailed in the Schedule of Additional Representations.

 A financial contribution from the applicant to fund the cost of establishing a 50 
mph speed limit and highway safety measures up to 3 kilometres from either side 
of the access along the Bridgnorth Road A454;

 A clause to address investigation, mitigation and compensation in the event of 
any adverse impact on the local water supplies;

 That the applicant convene and manage a Local Liaison Group; and
 That delegated authority be granted to the Principal Planning Officer to make 

minor amendments or additions to any conditions as deemed necessary.

(At this juncture, the meeting adjourned at 03:28 pm and reconvened at 03:35 pm.)

18 Proposed Poultry Units South East Of Hopton Heath, Shropshire 
(17/04546/EIA) 

In accordance with their declarations at Minute No. 16, Councillors David Evans and 
Robert Tindall left the room during consideration of this item.

Councillor David Turner took the Chair.

The Area Planning Manager introduced the application and with reference to the 
drawings displayed, he drew Members’ attention to the location, layout and 
elevations.  

Members had undertaken a site visit and had viewed the site and had assessed the 
impact of a proposal on the surrounding area.  

Ms S Skyrme, a local resident, spoke against the proposal in accordance with the 
Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees.

Councillor J Roberts, representing Clungunford Parish Council, spoke against the 
proposal in accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning 
Committees.

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor Nigel Hartin, as local Ward 
Councillor, made a statement and then left the table, took no part in the debate and 
did not vote on this item.  During his statement, the following points were raised:

 He drew Members’ attention to the long history of this site;



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 25 September 2018

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 5

 There was and had never been any local support for this application.  A 
previous application had been refused and this decision had been supported 
on appeal;

 He drew Members’ attention to a letter from Avara confirming that they would 
only honour existing sites – they had made no mention of this proposed site;

 On appeal, the Planning Inspector had upheld the previous decision to refuse 
and had dismissed the appeal solely on noise grounds.  However, other 
concerns had been raised and he urged the Committee to be consistent and 
refuse this current application.

.
Mr I Pick, the agent, spoke for the proposal in accordance with the Council’s Scheme 
for Public Speaking at Planning Committees and responded to questions from 
Members. 

In the ensuing debate, Members considered the submitted plans and noted the 
comments of all speakers.  In response to comments, the Public Protection Officer 
provided clarification on transient noise and the impact and acceptability of noise 
levels.  

RESOLVED:

That, as per the Officer’s recommendation, planning permission be granted, subject 
to:

 The conditions as set out in Appendix 2 of the report; and
 That officers be granted delegated authority to negotiate a s106 legal 

agreement prior to the grant of planning permission to remove manure 
associated with the development from the Clun Catchment Area Special Area 
of Conservation (SAC) and ensure the air exhaust scrubber system that will 
limit ammonia emissions remains operational throughout the lifetime of the 
development and agree appropriate recourses in case the scrubber system fails 
or the operator closes it down.

(At this juncture, the meeting adjourned at 04:20 pm and reconvened at 04:23 pm.)

(At this juncture, the Chairman returned and took the Chair.)

19 Proposed Exception Site Dwelling NE Of The Barn, Underton, Bridgnorth, 
Shropshire (18/00945/FUL) 

The Principal Planner introduced the application and with reference to the drawings 
displayed, he drew Members’ attention to the location, layout and elevations.  

Members had undertaken a site visit and had viewed the site and had assessed the 
impact of a proposal on the surrounding area.  

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor Robert Tindall, as local Ward 



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 25 September 2018

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 6

Councillor, made a statement and then left the table, took no part in the debate and 
did not vote on this item.  During his statement, the following points were raised:

 Other more remote affordable dwellings had been approved;
 The site was located within the settlement of Underton;
 Although of a modern design and given that there was already a good mix of 

architecture in Underton, he considered the use of timber and clay tiles to be 
acceptable;

 The applicants did not enjoy good health and their current dwelling was far too 
large for them to manage; and

 He urged approval of the dwelling.

In the ensuing debate, Members noted the comments of all speakers and 
considered the submitted plans and it was:

RESOLVED:

That, contrary to the Officers recommendation, planning permission be granted, for 
the following reasons:

 The proposal would ensure appropriate delivery of affordable housing;
 The design of the building is acceptable;
 The site is in or adjacent to the named settlement of Underton in accordance 

with the Council’s Type and Affordability of Housing Supplementary Planning 
Document and accordingly is acceptable in relation to the built form of 
Underton and does not unacceptably encroach in to the open countryside; 
and

 The applicants had demonstrated a strong local connection.

Subject to:

 A Section 106 Legal Agreement to ensure the dwelling remains an 
affordable dwelling in perpetuity; and

 That Planning Officers be granted delegated powers to attach appropriate 
conditions.

20 Wheathill Touring Park Caravan Site, Wheathill, Shropshire, WV16 6QT 
(18/02109/FUL) 

The Principal Planner introduced the application and with reference to the drawings 
displayed, he drew Members’ attention to the location, layout and elevations.  

Members had undertaken a site visit on a previous occasion and had viewed the site 
and had assessed the impact of a proposal on the surrounding area.  

Members noted the additional information as set out in the Schedule of Additional 
Letters circulated prior to the meeting.



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 25 September 2018

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 7

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor Madge Shineton, as local Ward 
Councillor, made a statement and then left the room, took no part in the debate and 
did not vote on this item.  During her statement, the following points were raised:

 She expressed support for the application and the economic benefits that 
came with it;

 She welcomed Condition No. 7 which stipulated that the land would be used 
for the storage of caravans only; and

 The landscaping, although now much improved to what it was, should 
continue to be monitored.

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor Gwilym Butler, as local Ward 
Councillor, made a statement and then left the room, took no part in the debate and 
did not vote on this item.  During his statement, the following points were raised:

 He expressed support for the application; and
 Without diversification the public house would not survive and the income from 

this proposal would support it during the winter months.

In the ensuing debate, Members noted the comments of all speakers and considered 
the submitted plans and it was:

RESOLVED:

That, as per the Officer’s recommendation, planning permission be granted, subject 
to the conditions as set out in Appendix 1 to the report.

21 Date of the Next Meeting 

RESOLVED:

That it be noted that the next meeting of the South Planning Committee will be held 
at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 23 October 2018 in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, 
Shrewsbury, SY2 6ND.

22 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions 

RESOLVED:

That the Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions for the southern area as at 25 
September 2018 be noted.

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 25 September 2018

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 8



Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Committee and date

South Planning Committee

23 October 2018

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 17/05170/FUL Parish: Ludlow Town Council 

Proposal: Construction of 5 No. Independent Living Affordable residential dwellings

Site Address: Housing Development Site Sidney Road Ludlow Shropshire SY8 1SQ

Applicant: Connexus

Case Officer: Tim Rogers email: planningdmnw@shropshire.gov.uk
Grid Ref: 352052 - 274558

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2018  For reference purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Recommendation:-  Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1.

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL

1.1 Permission is sought to build a terrace of five “Independent Living Affordable 
residential dwellings” on an area of public open space in Ludlow.  The row of 
houses would be built parallel to a row of houses at 2 to 14 Sidney Road.  Each 
home would be around 48 sqm in area (measured internally), providing space for a 
one bedroom wheelchair accessible home.  The design of the houses is traditional 
low level single storey bungalow-style with steeply pitched roofs.  Materials will 
include facing bricks, concrete roof tiles and uPVC windows.

1.2 A rear communal garden is proposed that would serve all the houses.  Car parking 
for the development includes a row of ten spaces in a bay off Charlton Rise of which 
one would designed to disabled access dimensions.  A refuse collection area is 
proposed on the Sidney Road frontage of the site.

1.3 There are three prominent maple trees on the site that are subject to a TPO.  Two 
would be retained and one in the centre would be lost to make way for the 
development.  The applicant has identified that six new trees would be planted as a 
replacement.  The site has other constraints that restrict the extent and footprint of 
development. These include two water mains / drainage easements, a right of way 
and bridleway that skirts the western edge of the site.

1.4 The South Planning Committee considered a scheme for five dwellings on this site 
at its 1st August 2017 meeting and refused planning permission (contrary to officer 
advice) for the following reason:

It is acknowledged that the proposed development would be in a sustainable 
location, contributing to the social and economic roles of sustainable 
development through the provision of small affordable bungalows, which is a 
type of accommodation for which there is an acknowledged need in Ludlow. 
However, the proposal, by reasons of the loss of the large Maple tree, which 
is the subject of a Tree Preservation Order, and reduction in the area of open 
space, would remove features that make significant contributions to the 
character and quality of the townscape and local amenity. In addition, the 
proposed footpath layout within the development, with the path linking 
Charlton Rise with Sidney Road passing very close to the front doors of the 
bungalows, is likely to be used by the public and would adversely affect the 
amenity and perception of security for the occupants of the bungalows. 
Consequently, the proposed development would not satisfy the 
environmental role of sustainable development as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework and would be contrary to Core Strategy Policies 
CS6, CS8 and CS17, and SAMDev Plan Policies MD2 and MD12.

1.5 This latest scheme differs from the previous one in that there are fewer new 
footpaths proposed on the site and the main footpath that links the proposed houses 
with the bin stores and the car parking spaces is now marginally over 3m from the 
front building line of the houses. The applicant has submitted elevational drawings 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

that show a dark brick being used.  The applicant has shown six additional trees 
being planted on the site.

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION

2.1 The site is located on the edge of an existing development of bungalows to the 
south east of Ludlow. The site is currently an area of open space that includes two 
small groups of mature trees; one on the south east edge and one within the centre 
of the site. 

2.2 The site has a slight slope in a general north to south direction towards Sheet Road 
with a slight hollow evident in the middle of the site. To the immediate north across 
a footpath is a row of bungalows that face across the site. The front boundaries of 
these dwellings are marked by a low hedge and picket-style fencing, in part. Beyond 
to the north and west lie other, similar bungalows on slightly rising ground. 

2.3 To the east lies Charlton Rise which serves a development of two storey dwellings 
and a three storey group close to the entrance off Sheet Road that includes 
commercial uses at ground floor level. 

2.4 The proposal is to introduce a terraced row of five small single-storey one-bedroom 
properties which will be slightly stepped to take account of the slope on the site. A 
footpath will be provided across the site running in front of the proposed dwellings. 
This will also provide residents access to a bin collection area in the north-west part 
of the site and a dedicated parking area to the southeast of the site accessed off 
Charlton Rise. The remainder of the site, which is constrained by two main sewer 
easements will remain open. The proposal includes the loss of one of three 
protected trees on the site, but does provide for some additional new planting of 
smaller trees across the site avoiding the easements.
   

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION 

3.1 Ludlow Town Council oppose the proposal. The Chairman and Vice Chairman of 
the South Planning Committee in discussion with the Area Planning Manager are in 
agreement that the application should be determined by Committee.

4.0 COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIONS

4.1 Consultee Comments 

4.1.1 SC Affordable Housing:  Support 
There is high evidenced local need for the type and tenure of affordable housing 
being proposed.

4.1.2 SC Ecology:  No objection subject to conditions
Habitats on the site consist of amenity grassland, hardstanding, scattered trees and 
defunct hedgerows.  None of the trees contain any potential bat roosting features 
but the site may be used by foraging and commuting bats.  No evidence of any 
other protected or priority species was observed on, or in close proximity to, the site 
and no additional impacts are anticipated. 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Have recommended conditions if permission is granted

4.1.3 SC Regulatory Services:  No objection.   
Have considered proximity of site of railway line.  

4.1.4 SC  SUDS:  Comment
Recommend that drainage be conditioned if planning permission is granted.

4.1.5 SC Rights of Way  Comment
Footpath 17 runs through the site and will be affected by the development. Officers 
are in receipt of a section 257 application to extinguish the footpath under the terms 
of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.  This is the subject of a public 
consultation.

4.1.6 SC Highways:  No objection.
From the potential householders’ view, the length of driveway/footpath, is the trip 
which they will have to make, weekly, to put refuse and recycling bins out for 
emptying. The recommended maximum distance is 25m. Collection is made from 
the roadside. These bungalows are being built in an area isolated from immediate 
access to roads which will involve an even further walk with bins and boxes to the 
roadside space which is proposed to be set aside for refuse collection storage off 
Sidney Road.

Consideration should be given to providing new-builds with either a joint open 
aspect outside the front doors or a linked path, to provide easy access for door to 
door deliverers between the dwellings.

Has recommended conditions if permission is granted.

4.1.7 SC Trees:  Comment
Remind officers of policy context.

The landscape proposal differs from the one submitted with application 
17/01387/FUL, the Tree Service accepted the previous landscape proposal on good 
faith but the revised layout offered in this application on plan 2930-17-03-02 Rev.E 
has been revised due to the agent’s failure to properly assess the viability of the 
original planting proposal with regards to the wayleave. The revised tree planting 
plan replaces the roadside planting with a triangle of trees in the middle of the 
meadow over an electric supply cable; following discussions regarding the cable it 
appears that the applicant’s agents would like to move the cable but cannot offer 
any assurance that this will be possible. In the light of this it is not clear that the loss 
of amenity resulting from the loss of tree T3 will be sustainably compensated for. 

We acknowledge that there is a balance to be made between the importance of 
maintaining the character and amenity of an area and the need for social housing 
and that the social or economic benefits of new social housing at this site might 
justify the adverse effects on amenity derived from the loss of tree T3.  Should it be 
the case that it is the decision of the Planning Committee or Delegated Officer to 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

grant planning permission, that decision would overrule the TPO in relation to tree 
T3.The Council would however be able to make the case for the expedience of 
protecting the proposed new planting if the applicant’s agents can give solid 
assurance that the planting is not and will not be in conflict with existing services.

Recommends conditions in the event that planning permission is granted.

4.2 Public Comments

4.2.1 13 objections received at the time of writing raising the following points:

 Proposal has been refused on many occasions.
 Development will result in loss of popular and well used open space of 

amenity value.
 Loss of trees covered by a tree preservation order (TPO).  Tenants paid 

for the trees.
 Ludlow is losing its green space.
 Will affect footpath/ bridleway.
 Overdevelopment.  Only 18m from neighbouring houses
 Housing for disabled people.  How will they empty bins?
 Highway safety concerns – extra traffic, congestion.  Conflict with bus, 

funeral undertaker.  Vehicle access obscured.
 Noise concerns from development.

4.2.2 Styche Brook and Gallows Bank Millennium Trust:  Object 
Make some of the same objections above but also identify site has ecological value.  
Additional storm-water would go into culvert.  

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES

 Reassessing the merits of the scheme
 Principle of development
 Siting, scale and design
 Impact on neighbours/ residential amenity
 Other considerations – ecology, highways and drainage

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL

6.1. Reassessing the merits of the scheme
6.1.1 Since the previous refusal on the site a new case officer has reviewed the case 

afresh and independently.  This has taken account of all material considerations 
raised during the processing of the current application as well as previous officer 
reports, the comments of the Planning Committee at its last meeting and its 
resolution.

6.2 Principle of development and merit of delivering affordable housing
6.2.1 Ludlow is identified in CS Policy CS3 as the focus for new development in South 

Shropshire.  SAMDev Settlement Policy S10.1 (Ludlow Town Development 
Strategy) anticipates new housing being delivered primarily on allocated housing 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

sites east of the A49 alongside additional infill and windfall development within the 
town’s development boundary. The site is a windfall site with the town boundary.  
SAMDev Policy MD3 will support housing on such sites but requires them to meet 
the design requirements of relevant Local Plan policies and, on sites of five or more 
dwellings, include a mix and type of housing that has regard to local evidence and 
community consultation.

6.2.2 The proposal will deliver five affordable disabled homes.  Clearly some significant 
weight should be given to this. The Council’s affordable housing officer has stated 
there is substantial evidence for this type of housing and in this respect the proposal 
shows compliance with SAMDev Policy MD3.  The proposal will also make a 
modest contribution towards delivering more housing across the county.

6.3 Siting, scale and design of development 
6.3.1 Both national policy and the policies of the development plan (SAMDev Policies 

MD2 and MD12 and CS Policies CS6 and CS17 in particular) place emphasis on 
the importance of good design.  Good design is an integral part of the government’s 
definition of sustainable development.  The proposal takes account of the prevailing 
form of housing to the north by introducing a stepped row of bungalows. The single 
storey nature of existing and proposed dwellings will help to prevent direct 
overlooking between habitable rooms. The applicant has sited the kitchen and 
shower rooms along the frontage of the proposed units with an outlook onto the 
front path. The main habitable rooms will therefore overlook the communal garden 
area at the rear of the properties with the existing properties beyond. 

6.3.2 It must be acknowledged that the proposal will take away part of an area of open 
space that has amenity value, in part because of the well-established trees 
(including T3 which will be felled). It is an open space that many local people 
clearly enjoy however a substantial part of it will still remain and the land is in any 
case not dedicated open space but is in the ownership of the applicants. The 
amenity value of the remaining open space can be protected when other features 
associated with new housing (bin stores, estate lighting) is introduced, by the 
imposition of appropriate conditions.

6.3.3 The layout for bin stores and car parking is acknowledged as not ideal when taking 
into account that the housing has been designed for wheelchair users. However this 
is due primarily to the constraints of the easements running through the site and a 
desire to retain an open aspect to the front of the site fronting towards Sheet Road. 
Occupation of the proposed dwelling will be managed by the applicants (a 
registered social landlord) and prospective residents will be made aware of the bin 
collection and parking arrangements prior to their occupation.  

6.3.4 To prevent overlooking into the houses from the new footpath and open area to 
the front, the main habitable rooms are proposed to go on the northern elevation of 
each house. It should be noted however that the kitchen/lounge area of the 
proposed dwellings area open plan and effectively provide dual aspect to the front 
and rear. The rear of the dwellings will face on to a communal garden area thereby 
encouraging interaction and neighbourliness between the residents. This will again 
be managed by the applicant company. 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

6.4 Impact on neighbours/ residential amenity 
6.4.1 The setbacks between the rear building of the new and existing houses is around 

19m.  This is marginally less than the long established standard of 21m (between 
two storey dwellings), but on its own this is not a fundamental problem given that 
the housing is for bungalows and there will not be direct overlooking between 
habitable rooms. 

6.4.2 If the communal garden is fenced off to the rear to provide private space and some 
defensible space for the residents of the proposed, it will be necessary to put a 
fence or other boundary wall within 8m of the front windows of the houses at Sidney 
Road.  This will have an impact on the outlook of residents of these houses however 
they have no right to a view in perpetuity and those properties are in any case 
owned by the applicant company it is a matter for them to manage. The relationship 
would not be unacceptable in planning terms. 

6.5 Other matters 
6.5.1 Some residents and local groups have identified ecology drainage objections.  

Neither of the Council’s drainage or ecology experts have found any grounds to 
withhold permission on such grounds.

6.5.2 The Council’s highway adviser does not oppose the scheme either.  However, it is 
suggested that a long dropped kerb required to accommodate an extended area of 
parking perpendicular to the highway may encourage additional on footpath parking 
contrary to good design advice set out in the Department for Transport’s Manual for 
Streets. 

6.5.3 Other residents have referred to case-law about the protection of open spaces.  
This is not a land use planning consideration as the site is not designated open 
space. Furthermore the applicants have identified that there is a considerable 
amount of dedicated public open space within easy walking distance of the 
application site. The deviation of a right of way is considered separately from 
planning applications.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal will provide much needed additional affordable housing in a named 

settlement which is clearly identified as suitable for some development in principle, 
subject to all other material considerations being acceptable. The site is close to 
existing housing that is managed by the applicants.
 

7.2 There are a number of constraints within the site that have impacted on the design 
and layout of the proposed development, resulting in some elements that are not 
ideal. These elements are however not considered to be sufficient either in 
themselves or combination to make the proposed scheme unacceptable. 
Furthermore there would be no significant impacts on either the occupiers of 
surrounding properties or the public benefit achieved from informal appreciation of 
the open area to the front of the site which will largely be maintained.

7.3 There are substantial social, and some economic benefits that would be derived 
from the proposed development. Having balanced all of the material planning 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

considerations, officers recommend that planning permission beapproved subject to 
the conditions as set out below. 

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they 
disagree with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be 
awarded irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written 
representations, hearing or inquiry.

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third 
party. The courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or 
misapplication of policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the 
principles of natural justice. However their role is to review the way the 
authorities reach decisions, rather than to make a decision on the planning 
issues themselves, although they will interfere where the decision is so 
unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. Therefore they are concerned 
with the legality of the decision, not its planning merits. A challenge by way of 
Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) in any event not later than 
six weeks after the grounds to make the claim first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol Article 
1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be balanced 
against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of the 
County in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 
number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

9.0 Financial Implications

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of conditions 
is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of defending any 
decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the scale and 
nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of being taken 
into account when determining this planning application – insofar as they are 
material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for the decision 
maker.

10.  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies

Central Government Guidance:

West Midlands Regional Spatial Strategy Policies:

Core Strategy and Saved Policies:

CS3 - The Market Towns and Other Key Centres
CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS17 - Environmental Networks
MD2 - Sustainable Design
MD3 - Managing Housing Development
MD12 - Natural Environment
Settlement: S10 - Ludlow
CS9 - Infrastructure Contributions
CS11 - Type and Affordability of housing

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

17/05170/FUL Construction of 5 No. Independent Living Affordable residential dwellings PDE 
PREAPP/16/00432 Erection of 10 bungalows PREUDV 19th August 2016
17/01371/FUL 7 new bungalows. NPW 31st March 2017
17/01387/FUL Erection of 5 bungalows for social housing (Amended Description) REFUSE 3rd 
August 2017
17/05170/FUL Construction of 5 No. Independent Living Affordable residential dwellings PDE 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

11.       Additional Information

View details online: 
https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=OYCA2DTDHE000

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Cllr R. Macey
Local Member  
Cllr Tracey Huffer
Appendices
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions

https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=OYCA2DTDHE000
https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=OYCA2DTDHE000


Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

APPENDIX 1

Conditions

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 (As 
amended).

  2. The hereby permitted use shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved 
drawings:

REASON: To define the permission in the interests of local amenity.

  3. The proposed ground floor slab levels of the hereby approved dwellings shall be set at 
least 150mm above the existing ground levels on the site measured at the point immediately 
adjacent to each of the proposed dwellings.

REASON: In the interests of safeguarding the development from potential flood risk.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL BEFORE THE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

  4. No  above ground works  shall  commence  on  site  until  details  and  samples  of  the 
materials to be used for the external walls, roofs and hard-surfaced areas have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

  5. No above ground works  shall  commence  on  site  until  details  of  the  design,  
external appearance and decorative finish of all railings, fences, gates, walls, bollards and 
other means of enclosure have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the development being occupied. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area

  6. Notwithstanding what is shown on the approved plans, no above ground works shall 
take place until a landscaping plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The plan shall include:
a) Planting plans, creation of wildlife habitats and features and ecological enhancements 
(e.g. hibernacula, integrated bat and bird boxes, hedgehog-friendly gravel boards and 
amphibian-friendly gully pots);
b) Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant, 
grass and wildlife habitat establishment);
c) Schedules of plants, noting species (including scientific names), planting sizes and 
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate;



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

d) Native species used are to be of local provenance (Shropshire or surrounding counties);
e) Details of trees and hedgerows to be retained and measures to protect these from 
damage during and after construction works;
f) Implementation timetables.

REASON: To ensure the provision of amenity and biodiversity afforded by appropriate 
landscape design.

  7. The approved measures for the protection of the trees as identified in the agreed tree 
protection plan shall be implemented in full prior to the commencement of any development 
related activities on site, and they shall thereafter be maintained for the duration of the site 
works. No material variation will be made from the approved tree protection plan without the 
written agreement of the Planning Authority. 

REASON: To safeguard retained trees and/or hedgerows on site and prevent damage during 
building works, and to protect the natural features and amenities of the local area that are 
important to the appearance of the development.

  8. No  development  shall  commence  on  site  until  a  scheme  for  the  discharge  of 
surface water from the site (including surface water from the access/driveway/parking areas), 
incorporating sustainable drainage details, has  been submitted to and approved in  writing  by  
the  Local  Planning  Authority.  The development shall not be first occupied until surface water 
drainage has been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme. 

REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained.

  9. No  development  shall  commence  on  site  until  details  of  the  works  for  the 
disposal  of  sewerage  have  been  submitted  to  and  approved  in  writing  by  the Local  
Planning Authority.  No dwelling shall be first occupied until the approved sewerage details 
have been fully implemented in accordance with the approved plans.

REASON: To ensure that the proposal is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage.

 10. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction 
Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
Statement shall provide for:

i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials 
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 
iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate 
v. wheel washing facilities 
vi. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 
vii. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction 
works



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Reason:  To avoid congestion in the surrounding area and to protect the amenities of the area.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL DURING THE CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO 
THE OCCUPATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT

 11. All  soft  landscaping  comprised  in  the  approved  details  of  landscaping  shall  be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the  first  occupation of the 
building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner. All  shrubs,  trees  
and  hedge  planting  shall  be  maintained free from  weeds  and shall be protected from 
damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, die, are 
removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of a similar size  and  species,  unless  otherwise  agreed  in  writing  by  
the  local  planning authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with 
the approved  details  prior  to  the  occupation  of  any  part  of  the  development  or  in 
accordance  with  a  programme  to  be  agreed  in  writing  with  the  Local  Planning Authority.

REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the protection 
of existing important landscape features.

 12. No  part  of  the  development  hereby  approved  shall  be   first  occupied   until  the  
parking  areas  shown  on  the approved plans have been consolidated, surfaced and laid out 
in accordance with the approved details. These areas shall be maintained and remain available 
for this use at all times thereafter.

REASON: To ensure that adequate provision is made for parking within the site in the interests 
of highway safety.

CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT

 13. Notwithstanding  the  provisions  of  the  Town  and  Country  Planning  (General 
Permitted  Development)  (England) Order 2015  (or  any  Order  revoking  or  re-enacting  or  
amending  that  Order  with  or without  modification),  there  shall  be  no  additions  to,  or  
extensions  or enlargements of any building forming part of the development hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area.

 14. Prior to first occupation / use of the buildings, details for the provision of bat and bird 
boxes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
following boxes shall be erected:
- A minimum of 1 external bat box or integrated bat brick suitable for nursery or summer 
roosting for small crevice dwelling bat species.
- A minimum of 1 artificial nest, of either integrated brick design or external box design, 
suitable for sparrows (32mm hole, terrace design).
The boxes shall be sited in accordance with the latest guidance and thereafter retained for the 
lifetime of the development. 

REASON: To ensure the provision of roosting and nesting opportunities in the interests of 
biodiversity.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, 
Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

 15. Prior to the erection of any external lighting on the site, a lighting plan shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the 
development. The submitted scheme shall be designed to take into account the advice on 
lighting set out in the Bat Conservation Trust's Artificial lighting and wildlife: Interim Guidance: 
Recommendations to help minimise the impact artificial lighting (2014).

REASON: To minimise disturbance to bats, which are European Protected Species.

 18. Demolition, construction works or deliveries shall not take place outside 7.30am - 6pm 
Monday to Friday, and 8am - 1pm on a Saturday, with no work taking place on Sundays or 
bank or public holidays.    
               
Reason:  In order to maintain the amenities of the area in accordance with policy CS6 of 
Shropshire Council Core Strategy.



Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Committee and date

South Planning Committee

23 October 2018

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 18/03585/FUL Parish: Ashford Bowdler 

Proposal: Conversion and extension to redundant agricultural building to form one 
dwelling and garage; change of use of agricultural land to form domestic curtilage; 
formation of vehicular access, and; installation of package treatment plant

Site Address: Barn South West Of The Grove Ashford Bowdler Shropshire  

Applicant: Mr Rob Bryant

Case Officer: Cathryn Robinson email: planningdmc@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 351692 - 270638

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2018  For reference purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Recommendation:-  Grant Permission subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1.

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL

1.1 This application seeks permission for the conversion of a detached brick barn and 
cart shed to a dwelling; the erection of garage and annexe structure, connected to 
the main dwelling via glazed ‘link’ is also proposed alongside the conversion. The 
formation of a vehicular access, and the installation of package treatment plant are 
also necessary to facilitate the conversion. 

1.2 This application is accompanied by a ‘sister’ application seeking listed building 
consent for the works - 18/03586/LBC.

1.3 NOTE: Former applications 12/03444/FUL and 16/00491/FUL permitted the 
residential conversion of this barn. 

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION

2.1 The barn to the south west of The Grove farmhouse is a grade II listed building 
containing stables, a cart shed and a byre. It dates from the 18th century and is 
constructed in brick with a dentil course under the eaves and a tiled hipped roof. 
There is a grass courtyard in front of the building enclosed by a wall constructed 
partly in brick and partly in modern block work. The barn and farmhouse fall within 
the Ashford Bowdler Conservation Area. 

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION 

3.1 The Parish Council have provided views contrary to the Officers recommendation. 
This application has been discussed with the Local Member whom concurs with the 
objection of the Parish Council. The Vice Chair of the South Planning Committee, in 
consultation with the Principal Officer, considers that the material planning 
considerations raised warrant determination by Committee in this case.

4.0 Community Representations

4.1 - Consultee Comments
4.1.1 Ashford Bowdler Parish Council – Object:

Ashford Bowdler Parish Meeting would like to register objections to the planning 
application above. We are broadly supportive of bringing the old coach house back 
into use but not with the changes and design features shown on the latest 
drawings. Others in the village have raised a number of points related to planning 
regulations etc. and we don't propose to repeat them here. 

Ashford Bowdler is a conservation village and its occupants desire it to remain as 
such. The coach house is firmly within the boundaries of the conservation area and 
is also listed. The features included in this application turn what was a design of its 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

time, a Victorian agricultural building, into a creation of the 21st century and that 
adjacent to a largely regency manor house. This would make it out of line with the 
rest of the village the buildings of which are mostly several hundred years of age. 
This flies in the face of the concept of having conservation areas. The design as 
proposed has huge areas of glass, front and back, much of which reaches the 
ground. These features are totally alien in the village. The original structure of the 
barn will be hardly recognisable with the design proposed.

When planning approval was requested by the previous owner less than three 
years ago, there were copious comments from council specialists heavily restricting 
what could be done with this building. One such comment said that there should be 
no windows on the rear elevation due to the proximity to The Grove. There appears 
to be no such comment this time around. Other applications in the village in recent 
times asking to make relatively minor changes to former agricultural buildings have 
been met with strong resistance from the Council. I would hope that the same 
position will be taken for this application.

Another significant issue is that of the garage. It is good to see that the height has 
been reduced twice since the original design. In our view, that really is not 
sufficient. The addition of a room above the garage raises its profile too much and it 
would become quite a dominant feature from the perspective of some neighbouring 
properties and when approaching along the lane. We recommend eliminating the 
room above and changing the roof profile to have a hipped end adjacent to the 
lane.

We do support other comments already made about the disposal of waste water 
from the building. As has been mentioned, the culvert already has a tendency to 
overflow after heavy rain so any extra water from the digester would only 
exacerbate the situation. Other comments made by an expert in water treatment 
also refer to the technical inadequacy of the Klargester unit for a small household. It 
would certainly be unacceptable to have inadequately treated waste being exited 
into the culvert. Treatment of waste here is a major concern. The comments about 
the culvert also are relevant to the construction of the bridge forming the main 
access to the property. This must be done without restriction to flow or we will have 
even more problems with flooding in that area.

In summary, the design needs a major rethink to better align with the rest of this 
conservation village; the water treatment plan should be reconsidered to eliminate 
waste water flowing into the culvert; the garage should be redesigned to avoid it 
being an eyesore.

4.1.2 SC Drainage – No Objection:
No objection; recommend conditions and informatives.
 

4.1.3 SC Conservation – No Objection:
27.09.18
These comments supplement those previously submitted on 24/8/18.

The proposed amended plans are noted where there are two principal 
amendments:
- Reduction of the proposed outbuilding/garage height; and



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

- Substitution of proposed window in outbuilding (gable) to a timber shutter (where 
it is noted that this is a means of a fire escape).

These proposed amendments are supported in principle, where the reduction in 
height shall aid subserviency to that of the principal listed building.

24.08.18
This proposal follows pre-application advice that was given as part of 
PREAPP/18/00130, where the principle of the conversion of this listed barn was 
deemed to be acceptable in principle. There were design concerns with the 
proposal, where further amended drawings were submitted for consideration by SC 
Conservation. Also a Structural Survey was requested in accordance with policy 
MD7a of SAMDev, in order to determine whether the barn is capable of conversion 
which is provided as part of these applications.

The proposed revisions for this proposal are noted, including the retention of the 
existing timber shutters that shall be pinned back in order to retain the agricultural 
appearance of the building. New windows have been accommodated by using the 
existing brick recesses, especially on the rear elevation, along with contrasting oak 
cladding, where the windows on the principal front elevation utilise existing 
openings. The main principle issue was how to accommodate the extra bedroom in 
a sensitive manner, given the existing sensitivity of the existing form of the barn, 
where any extension would likely to have a detrimental impact. The principle of a 
contemporary glazed units, supported by green oak, along with a green sedum 
roof, partially hidden by an existing rubblestone boundary wall to a new outbuilding 
was considered, where this was deemed to be the least harmful option and 
therefore retaining the historic legibility of the principal barn building. This also 
utilises the pleasing curvature of the existing rubblestone wall that contributes 
towards the setting of the site, along with the significance of the barn building in 
terms of its historic layout and field pattern. Ashford Bowdler is characterised by 
ancillary outbuildings on the frontage, where this outbuilding should be clearly 
ancillary to the principal listed barn, as well as fitting in with the other buildings that 
are adjacent within the conservation area, as an overall composition. It also affords 
uninterrupted views and linkage towards the rural hinterland beyond, keeping the 
outbuilding contained within the site, without causing undue clutter 

The conclusion of the Structural Survey is noted, where it is deemed that the 
existing barn is capable of conversion with some localised repairs, which is not 
surprising, given the length of time it has remained vacant. This should therefore 
inform a relevant Schedule of Works in terms of what interventions are required to 
the building, including the relevant timber roof structure and the existing brickwork 
that may involve some rebuilding of existing lintels. Conditions are recommended 
below with regards to the extent of the likely works that may be required to the 
existing timber roof structure, along with relevant areas of repointing of the 
brickwork.

Overall, there are no principle objections to this proposal, where the conversion of 
this vacant listed building is supported in principle, subject to conditions.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

4.1.4 SC Archaeology – No objection:
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Section 141, it 
is recommended that a programme of archaeological work, to comprise an 
archaeological watching brief during any ground works associated with the 
proposed conversion, extension, landscaping and services, be made a condition of 
any planning permission.

4.1.5 SC Highways – No Objection:
The site is located on the northern side of the unclassified no through road which 
serves the village of Ashford Bowdler east of the A49 and to the south of Ludlow. 
The unclassified road is rural is subject to a low level of traffic generated by the 
occupation of the surrounding properties. The likely traffic generation of the 
dwelling is unlikely to result in a detrimental impact on the adjoining unclassified 
road.

The Proposed Site Plan drawing no. P003 Rev B shows the proposed layout of the 
site and new access. The new access is to be created by removing a section of the 
boundary wall and is considered to be acceptable for the prevailing highway 
conditions. The drainage ditch running parallel to the site frontage within the 
highway will need to be satisfactorily culverted under the access apron to ensure its 
integrity. 

No objection, subject to the development being constructed in accordance with the 
approved details and the inclusion of conditions to reinforce the critical aspects. 

4.1.6 SC Ecology – No Objection:
Recommend conditions and informatives are attached. Please also see the 
European Protected Species 3 tests matrix attached in Appendix 2 of this report. 

4.1.7 SC Affordable Housing
Listed Buildings are exempt from the need to contribute towards affordable 
housing.

4.2 - Public Comments
4.2.1 This application was advertised via notice at the site. Additionally, the residents of 

five neighbouring residents were individually notified by way of publication. At the 
time of writing this report. At the time of writing this report sixteen representations 
had been received.

4.2.2 Of the five neutral representations, the comments raised are surmised as follows – 
 A septic tank should be explored as the preferred drainage option
 Water should not discharge into the existing watercourse since it is prone 

to overflowing and at cold times of year is dangerous due to ice 
 It is unclear whether or not the existing wall shall be sympathetically 

retained where the new access shall be installed; as a a conservation 
area it is important that changes to buildings and other structures are in 
keeping with existing materials

 Preference for a hipped roof, to mimic the existing barn, as to lessen 
prominence from the lane 

 Modern design at odds with the Georgian, Grade 2 listed neighbour



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

4.2.4 The eleven objections received are surmised as follows – 
 The extension to the existing barn is considered to have a hugely 

detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the conservation 
area

 The extension will be visible from many public vantage points, and be 
obviously visible above the existing boundary wall

 When entering the village from the East property ‘The Grove’ and this 
redundant agricultural building dominates the view; the proposed 
extension will have an obvious impact to this important arrival into the 
village 

 The garden intrudes into open countryside and the associated residential 
paraphernalia would have a detrimental impact on both the character and 
appearance of the conservation area

 The proposed green roof above the single storey link extension is also 
wholly out of character and would result in a new feature that is not 
present within the conservation area

 The glazing at the front of the link would not have the effect of being a 
lightweight link between two buildings as there is a solid wall to the rear. 

 The partial demolition of the boundary wall, to make way for the new 
access, does not preserve the character or appearance of the 
conservation area

 The proposed glazing would destroy the character and appearance of 
this historic building

 The garden areas are created with new boundary fencing that intrude 
into the open countryside

 The addition of an extension which would more than double the footprint 
of the existing building clearly has a hugely detrimental impact on the 
character and appearance of the conservation area

 No physical evidence suggests a building was ever sited at this location; 
the historic maps do not support this application 

 The impact to the conservation area is not duly assessed
 The deeper floor plan and gable ends, along with its prominent position  

adjacent to the highway give the impression of an incongruous bulky 
building that would have a dominating impact on the listed building and 
its setting

 There is a window proposed on the southern elevation on the upper floor 
of the extension to bedroom 1. The Granary’ and is only 8.5m away and 
has two windows on its northern elevation to habitable rooms which 
would look directly into bedroom one thus resulting in a loss of residential 
amenity and privacy

 Ground floor windows at ‘The Granary’ will suffer from loss of light
 Submitted amendments considered insufficient to override issues initially 

raised 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES

Principle of development
Siting, scale and design of structure
Impact on visual amenity and the wider conservation area 
Neighbouring amenity
Drainage

NOTE: the impact on the special architectural character and historic interest of the
listed building and associated curtilage listed wall is considered within the 
report relating to listed building application 18/03586/LBC. 

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL

6.1 Principle of development
6.1.1 The proposed site is situated within the Ashford Bowdler Conservation Area and 

affects a listed building or its setting and has the potential to impact on these 
heritage assets The proposal therefore has to be considered against Shropshire 
Council policies CS6 and CS17 and with national policies and guidance including 
PPS5 Historic Environment Planning Practice Guide and section 16 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  Special regard has to be given to the 
desirability of preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses and preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of the Conservation area as required by section 66 and 72 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

6.1.2 Shropshire Core Strategy CS5: Countryside and Green Belt seeks to control 
residential development within the open countryside. Since Bryn is not recognised 
as neither a hub nor cluster by CS4: Community Hubs and Community Clusters nor 
the newly adopted Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) 
Plan the development site is considered as open countryside where the 
establishment of new build residential dwellings is generally opposed. However 
policy CS5 allows for the conversion of redundant rural buildings in the countryside 
to dwellings provided the proposal takes account of and makes a positive 
contribution to the character of the building. 

6.1.3 Core Strategy Policy CS17: Environmental Networks requires development to 
identify, protect and enhance the high quality of Shropshire’s natural, built and 
historic environment whilst contributing to local distinctiveness and having due 
regard to the quality if Shropshire’s environment. MD13: The Historic Environment 
of the Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) plan further 
encourages development which delivers positive benefits to heritage assets. In line 
with this policy the conversion of existing buildings, particularly of heritage/historic 
interest, is supported by both local and national policy requirements. The 
outbuilding in question is limestone constructed barn, curtilage listed in association 
with the Grade II listed principal farmhouse. The heritage status of this building 
sees it suitable, in principle, for residential development. 

6.2 Siting, scale and design of structure 
6.2.1 Currently proposed is the conversion of a redundant agricultural building to a family 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

home; some extensions are proposed in order to supplement the accommodation, 
namely add a garage and annexe accommodation. Preapplication advice was 
sought on an alternative proposal; initially a two-storey extension was intended to 
be directly affixed to the rear of the barn. A detached garage was intended to be 
subject to a separate application/additional dialogue. A two-storey introduction of 
this scale was deemed inappropriate in the manner it structure fundamentally alters 
the simple silhouette and footprint of the existing barn, which is currently distinctive 
its character. The only acceptable manner to gain accommodation of this scale was 
deemed via a ‘detached’ extension connected to the main barn via a glazed ‘link’. 
The separation and reduction in intervention with the original building afforded by 
such an approach ensures that the existing agricultural character of the barn is not 
unduly eroded.  

6.2.2 A preapplication site visit and further discussion was undertaken by the applicant, 
agent, local planning authority and conservation officers. In order to reduce the 
amount of new built form associated with this listed building and its setting, the 
amalgamation of the garage and annexe accommodation into a sole structure was 
suggested; provided this structure was; not excessive its scale, sufficiently 
subservient within its context and of a high quality overall design, this option was 
considered likely the best way in moving forward by way of avoiding future ad-hoc 
applications for outbuildings and further extensions as may be desired by the client.

6.2.3 Contrary to claims made within submitted representation, the addition as proposed 
does not double the existing building footprint nor accommodation levels. Providing 
some 183m2 of accommodation, the proposal is noted as generous its scale; 
however roughly a fifth of this is contained within the basement, thus does not add 
the bulk of the property. Another fifth is also attributable to the double garage 
element; should this not have been an integral part of the scheme, it is likely 
garaging would have been sought as a separate structure thus further adding to 
visual mass within the property curtilage.  

6.2.4 A gabled timber boarded ancillary building –where the gable end faces the highway 
–is proposed, and would be attached to the main barn via glazed ‘link’; the structure 
will use the existing rubble stone wall to comprise some of its external walls. Its 
overall height would stand some 2.2m lower than the highest ridge height of the 
main barn, in order to establish its subservience; the use of timber boarding, 
deemed a ‘lesser status’ construction material also helps to reinforce the ancillary 
nature of this built form. In terms of it design, the justifying rationale is to mimic the 
surrounding character where lesser status outbuildings exhibit roadside fronting 
gables. Indeed, an example of such form is observed opposite the development 
site in the layout of the now residentially converted outbuildings – inclusive of 
neighbouring properties ‘The Granary’ and ‘Barn House’ - formerly associated with 
Manor Farm House; accordingly this design approach is not considered 
incongruous. 

6.2.5 It is acknowledged that much of the objections received do not find favour with a 
contemporary design, however such an approach is considered preferable to a 
pastiche in this case. There is resistance to the reinstating of historical forms and 
design elements in the absence of sound evidence of their historic existence and 
merit. The introduction of more modern designed elements allows the main 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

heritage component to remain the predominant feature of the property, and allows 
the historic context and evolution of the building to be legibly read. Though the 
proposed built form would be forward of the principal elevation of the main building, 
the siting is considered appropriate in this instance as per paragraph 6.2.4 in 
echoing the local character of ancillary outbuildings. 

6.2.6 A simple single storey link extension would attach the timber boarded outbuilding to 
the main barn; the flat roof structure would exhibit a green roof. Objection 
comments have raised concern with this element of the scheme. In regards to the 
green roof, whilst not currently observed within the conservation area, it is not a 
‘material’ selection considered inappropriate in this case to warrant requests for its 
removal; indeed it could be considered of visual benefit where, from long range 
views, the vegetation could be read in context with the garden lawn thus reinforcing 
the visual separation desired between the structures. In regards to the referenced 
solid wall, this is noted to be an existing wall whose removal is considered 
inappropriate on heritage grounds; all new structural elements associated with this 
link are of a lightweight and glazed nature. 

6.2.7 Representation has been received objecting to the glazing as proposed to the main 
barn. It is acknowledged that the previous permissions for the conversion of this 
building contained rooflights only to the rear elevation. The fenestration here 
designed is the result of discussion with our conservation officers, where existing 
fenestration has been retained as much as possible. New fenestration to the rear – 
where an absence of fenestration requires the insertion of some new units (be it 
windows or rooflights) to allow the building to function as a dwelling – has been 
designed as to make use of existing recesses in the brickwork; the glazing shall be 
located within these recesses, as to allow the character and form of this wall to be 
retained as much as possible rather than randomly placed windows punctuating the 
rear elevation. Existing openings are retained to the other elevations, with existing 
shutters also retained and pinned back as to avoid undue harm to the heritage 
asset and conserve its character. 

6.3 Impact on visual amenity and the wider conservation area 
6.3.1 The barn in question is Grade II listed; the building also sits within the Ashford 

Bowdler Conservation Area. The development site is acknowledged as being 
readily visibly to motorists and pedestrians alike travelling the U-classified highway 
which adjust from the A49 to provide access to the village; the site can also be 
glimpsed from the A49 trunk road. As such there is a notable degree of visual 
sensitivity which must be carefully considered prior to the permitting of works at this 
location.

6.3.2 In terms of the character of the street scene, when travelling eastwards along the 
U-classified highway it is noted that buildings on the right hand side of the road 
generally front the roadside, and The Grove and its associated barn (subject of this 
application) are set back from the highway. It is acknowledged that building forward 
of the principal elevation of the barn is at odds with this street-scene pattern; 
however it is considered that this is of lesser visual impact than its siting to the side 
or rear of the barn would be, where the built form and addition of bulk would 
represent visual erosion of the openness of the countryside to the North of the 
development site. As per paragraph 6.2.4, the design and siting of the structure 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

works to echo local character thus shall not look unduly alien. Further open fields 
shall remain to the West of the development site, thus not unduly impacting the 
visual entrance into the village nor the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. 

6.3.3 In regards to the partial demolition of the boundary wall to the southern boundary to 
make way for the proposed access; these works were approved via former 
applications 12/03444/FUL and 16/00491/FUL for residential conversion of this 
barn, thus it would be inappropriate to now deem this intervention to the wall as 
unacceptable regardless of the level of objection this element of the proposal has 
attracted. Aside from gaining access from the South, the alternative to gaining 
access to this property would be via a lengthy driveway of over 90m extending from 
the existing field access across the fields to the North and West (which are within 
the ownership of the applicant). This is considered an option which would 
unacceptably erode the open countryside; additionally it would directly contrast with 
the character of Ashford Bowdler and its conservation area, where the vast majority 
of properties front – and are accessed via- the U-classified Ashford Bowdler Village 
road. 

6.3.4 It is confirmed that alongside post and wire fencing to delineate the new garden, 
that native species hedgerow shall also comprise the proposed boundary 
treatment; this vegetative boundary is consistent with the locality thus would not 
appear as unduly alien nor prominent within the landscape. The new outlined 
property curtilage, whilst larger than the existing North field boundary, extends no 
further north that the existing residential curtilage of neighbouring The Grove. As 
such, it is not considered that the curtilage as proposed unacceptably erodes the 
surrounding countryside. It is acknowledged that domestic paraphernalia will pose 
some impact, however where the development site is adjacent to a residential 
property this is not considered of unacceptable visual impact. 

6.3.5 In terms of alterations to the principal barn, interventions to the structure are 
generally kept to a minimum thus avoiding harm to the heritage asset in line with 
policy MD13. Due to changes in modern agricultural practices the buildings are no 
longer fit for their original purpose, and if no alternative use is found it is likely the 
buildings would be left to gradually deteriorate risking the long term maintenance 
and survival of important historic buildings; as such the permitting of a sympathetic 
conversion scheme for this building, rather than it remaining redundant and falling 
into a state of disarray, is required in order to best preserve and enhance the 
character and appearance of the conservation area. 

6.4 Neighbouring amenity
6.4.1 Objection comments reference the fenestration proposed to the North elevation  

overlooking the amenity space of neighbouring ‘The Grove’. At first floor level this 
fenestration is to serve a bathroom and a landing. Bathroom windows are generally 
obscure glazed for the privacy of the occupants, however this can be conditioned 
accordingly if deemed necessary. Accordingly a landing is not considered primary 
accommodation where the inclusion of fenestration can give rise to unacceptable 
overlooking nor loss of privacy; particularly in this instance where the landing 
window is located over the stairs. The remainder of the first floor windows to this 
elevation would have an angled view of the neighbouring garden; serving a hallway 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

(thus not primary living accommodation) and an additional bathroom (which shall 
be obscure glazed). In this light it is not considered that overlooking from any these 
windows would be of sufficient harm to warrant the refusal of this application.

6.4.2 In terms of ground floor windows, the bifold doors serving the dining room are the 
nearest to neighbouring ‘The Grove’ their siting would allow only angled vantage 
points into the neighbouring garden. As ground floor fenestration, it is considered 
that landscaping measures are appropriate in ensuring that no detrimental 
overlooking can occur. Additionally only one East facing window is proposed; this is 
at ground floor level, and at a height that would serve as a light source only rather 
than giving rise to direct overlooking of the neighbouring curtilage. It is neither 
considered that the levels of activity associated with the establishment of a sole 
residential dwelling at this location would cause disturbance sufficient to unduly 
harm the amenity of occupants of ‘The Grove’. 

6.4.3 Neighbouring property ‘The Granary’ sits opposite the development site, with 
approximately 8.6m separating this property from the roughly 1.8m high stone 
rubble wall comprising the Southern curtilage boundary of the development site. 
Accordingly, particularly at ground floor, ‘The Granary’ possesses a compromised 
situation in terms of its amenity; it must therefore be assessed whether or not the 
proposal significantly exacerbate the existing situation. In relation to the suns path, 
where the neighbouring property sits South of the proposed outbuilding addition, it 
would not cast direct shadow over the neighbouring property. Though the proposal 
is acknowledged likely to give rise to some loss of natural daylight, it is not 
considered sufficient to warrant the refusal of this application; the triangular nature 
of the gable end facing the neighbouring property – rather than a solid rectangular 
form – aids this scenario. At the separation distance involved, it is neither 
considered that the outbuilding as proposed would sufficiently overbear the 
occupants of neighbouring ‘The Granary’ sufficiently as to warrant the refusal of this 
application.
 

6.4.4 Concern was raised regarding the inclusion of a first floor window, serving bedroom 
1, of the proposed outbuilding. Due to the relationship with neighbouring ‘The 
Granary’ there was apprehension regarding potentially unacceptable overlooking; 
in the interests of working proactively as per paragraph 38 of the NPPF these 
concerns were relayed to the agent, who confirmed that the opening was included 
as means of fire escape only. Amended plans (received 18.09.18) specify that no 
glazing will be fitted to the opening, which will instead be in the form of a removable 
(from inside) opaque insulated panel with a timber shutter on the outside as 
required in order to meet building regulations for fire escape. Suitable conditions 
attached to the decision notice shall ensure that this cannot be substituted for 
glazing. 

6.5 Drainage
6.5.1 A package sewage treatment plant is proposed and will be located in the land to 

the west of the site. Objection has been received in relation to the treatment of both 
surface and waste water, with a neighbouring culvert prone to overflow following 
heavy rain thus concerns are raised for any extra water from the digester 
exacerbating the situation. The representations in this regard are noted; full details 
of the plant and surface water disposal are the subject of a planning condition thus 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

will be confirmed at a later date. No objections have been raised by the Council’s 
Drainage Consultants, who are content that drainage interests can be safeguarded 
through a condition on any approval issued. (Foul and surface water drainage 
details were conditioned (no.11) on the barn conversion scheme 16/00491/FUL for 
this building, which was permitted on the 16th June 2016).
 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The works are judged to be in scale and character with the original building and its 

setting. It is not considered that the proposal gives rise to sufficient harm to  visual 
or residential amenities as to warrant the refusal of this application; the long-term 
safeguarding of this listed building is indeed a factor weighing in favour of the 
planning balance. The application therefore accords with the principal determining 
criteria of the relevant development plan policies and approval is recommended.

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 
irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written 
representations, hearing or inquiry.

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. 
The courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication 
of policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural 
justice. However their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, 
rather than to make a decision on the planning issues themselves, although 
they will interfere where the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or 
perverse. Therefore they are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its 
planning merits. A challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) 
promptly and b) in any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make 
the claim first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol 
Article 1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be 
balanced against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of 
the County in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 
number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

9.0 Financial Implications

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the 
scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – insofar as 
they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker.

10.  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies

Central Government Guidance:
National Planning Policy Framework

Core Strategy and Saved Policies:
CS5 – Countryside and Green Belt
CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS11 – Type and Affordability of Housing
CS17 - Environmental Networks
CS18 – Sustainable Water Management
MD2 - Sustainable Design
MD7a – Managing Housing Development in the Countryside
MD12 – Natural Environment
MD13 - Historic Environment

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

12/03444/FUL Conversion of agricultural building to a two-storey dwelling; formation of 
vehicular access; installation of package treatment plant GRANT 21st February 2013
12/03758/LBC Alterations in association with conversion of agricultural building to a two storey 
dwelling GRANT 21st February 2013
16/00491/FUL Conversion of agricultural building to form one dwelling; formation of vehicular 
access; installation of package treatment plant GRANT 16th June 2016
16/00492/LBC Alterations in association with conversion of agricultural building to a two storey 
dwelling (renewal of planning permission 12/03758/LBC) GRANT 16th June 2016



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

18/03586/LBC Conversion and extension to redundant agricultural building to form one 
dwelling and garage; change of use of agricultural land to form domestic curtilage; formation of 
vehicular access, and; installation of package treatment plant PDE 
SS/1/7904/T/ Felling of an Oak tree PERCON 20th August 1997
SS/1/6041/U/ Felling and lopping of trees OBJECT 24th October 1995
SS/1/00/11132/TC Felling of Leylandii trees. NOOBJ 27th July 2000

11.       Additional Information

View details online: 

https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=PCUI6ETDFFV00

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)
Design and Access Statement including Heritage Impact Assessment
Structural Survey
Ecology Report

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Cllr R. Macey
Local Member  
Cllr Vivienne Parry
Appendices
APPENDIX 1 – Conditions
APPENDIX 2 – European Protected Species tests form

https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=PCUI6ETDFFV00
https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=PCUI6ETDFFV00


Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

APPENDIX 1

Conditions

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 (As 
amended).

  2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved plans and 
drawings 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the approved plans and details.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL BEFORE THE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

  3. No development approved by this permission shall commence until the applicant, or 
their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI). This written 
scheme shall be approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
works.

Reason: The site is known to hold archaeological interest.

  4. No development shall take place until either: 
a) a European Protected Species (EPS) Mitigation Licence with respect to bats has been 
obtained from Natural England and submitted to the Local Planning Authority; or
b) a statement from an appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist has been 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority explaining why a licence is not required and 
setting out any additional mitigation measures required. 
Reason: To ensure the protection of bats, which are European Protected Species.

 5. No development shall take place until a scheme of foul drainage, and surface water 
drainage has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the development is occupied/brought into 
use (whichever is the sooner).
Reason: The condition is a pre-commencement condition to ensure satisfactory drainage of the 
site and to avoid flooding.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL DURING THE CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO 
THE OCCUPATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT

  6. The access, parking and turning areas shall be satisfactorily completed and laid out in 
accordance with the Proposed Site Plan drawing no. P003 Rev B prior to the dwelling being 
occupied. The approved parking and turning areas shall thereafter be maintained at all times 
for that purpose. 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Reason: To ensure the formation and construction of a satisfactory access and parking 
facilities in the interests of highway safety

  7. Prior to the above ground works commencing samples and/or details of the roofing 
materials and the materials to be used in the construction of the external walls of the proposed 
outbuilding and link extension shall be  submitted to and  approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the 
approved details.
Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.

  8. Prior to first occupation / use of the building, the makes, models and locations of bat and 
bird boxes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and 
installed. The boxes shall be sited in suitable locations, with a clear flight path and where they 
will be unaffected by artificial lighting. The boxes shall thereafter maintained for the lifetime of 
the development. 
Reason: To ensure the provision of roosting and nesting opportunities, in accordance with 
MD12, CS17 and section 175 of the NPPF.

  9. The access apron and culverting of the ditch shall be constructed in accordance with the 
Shropshire Council's specification currently in force for an access and shall be fully 
implemented prior to the dwelling being occupied.

Reason: To ensure the formation and construction of a satisfactory access in the interests of 
highway safety.

 10. Prior to the erection of any external lighting on the site, a lighting plan shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting plan shall demonstrate 
that the proposed lighting will not impact upon ecological networks and/or sensitive features, 
e.g. bat and bird boxes (required under a separate planning condition). The submitted scheme 
shall be designed to take into account the advice on lighting set out in the Bat Conservation 
Trust's Artificial lighting and wildlife: Interim Guidance: Recommendations to help minimise the 
impact artificial lighting (2014). The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with 
the approved details and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason: To minimise disturbance to bats, which are European Protected Species.

CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT

 11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification, no access gates or other means of closure shall be erected within 5.0 metres of 
the highway boundary.

Reason: To provide for the standing of parked vehicles clear of the highway carriageway in the 
interests of highway safety

 12. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order modifying, revoking or 
re-enacting that Order), no extension, garage, car port or other building/structure shall be 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

erected or installed within the curtilage of the dwelling hereby permitted without the prior written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the character and setting of the converted barn, in accordance with 
Policies CS5, CS6 and CS17 of the Shropshire Local Development Framework Adopted Core 
Strategy.

 13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order, with or without 
modification), no windows shall at any time be placed in the South elevation of the outbuilding 
hereby permitted.

Reason: In order to protect the residential amenity of adjacent properties.

 14. The curtilage for the enjoyment of this property shall remain as the land contained within 
the hedgerow and post and wire stock fence to garden boundary as delineated in site plan 
P003-B.

Reason: To avoid unacceptable encroachment of the domestic curtilage into the surrounding 
open countryside

 15. The 'Garage' as labelled on approved drawing P101 C shall only be used for purposes 
of the storage of vehicles and/or domestic items associated with the dwelling. At no time shall 
this space be converted to primary accommodation in association with the existing dwelling. 

Reason: To mitigate against the need for future detached garage structures, in order to 
safeguard the character and setting of the converted barn, in accordance with Policies CS5, 
CS6 and CS17 of the Shropshire Local Development Framework Adopted Core Strategy.

 16. All demolition, conversion, site clearance, development, landscaping and biodiversity 
enhancements shall occur strictly in accordance with section 6.1 of the Ecological Appraisal 
(Greenscape Environmental, January 2018).
Reason: To ensure the protection of and enhancements for bats, which are European 
Protected Species.

Informatives

 1. In arriving at this decision Shropshire Council has used its best endeavours to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner to secure an appropriate outcome as required 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 38.

 2. The above conditions have been imposed in accordance with both the policies contained 
within the Development Plan and national Town & Country Planning legislation.  Your attention 
is specifically drawn to any conditions above that require the Local Planning Authority's 
approval.

In accordance with Article 27 of the Town & Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) Order 2015 a fee may be payable to the Local Planning Authority for applications to 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

discharge conditions.  If a fee is necessary this will be required per request.  The required 
forms are available from www.planningportal.gov.uk or from the Local Planning Authority.  

Where there are pre commencement conditions that require the submission of information for 
approval prior to development commencing at least 21 days notice is required to enable proper 
consideration to be given. Failure to discharge pre-commencement conditions will result in a 
contravention of the terms of this permission; any commencement may be unlawful and the 
Local Planning Authority may consequently take enforcement action.

 3. This planning permission does not authorise the applicant to:
- construct any means of access over the publicly maintained highway (footway or verge) or
- carry out any works within the publicly maintained highway, or
- authorise the laying of private apparatus within the confines of the public highway including 
any a new utility connection, or
- undertaking the disturbance of ground or structures supporting or abutting the publicly 
maintained highway
The applicant should in the first instance contact Shropshire Councils Street works team. This 
link provides further details 

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/street-works/street-works-application-forms/

Please note: Shropshire Council require at least 3 months' notice of the applicant's intention to 
commence any such works affecting the public highway so that the applicant can be provided 
with an appropriate licence, permit and/or approved specification for the works together and a 
list of approved contractors, as required.

 4. The applicant is responsible for keeping the highway free from any mud or other material 
emanating from the application site or any works pertaining thereto.

 5. Drainage arrangements shall be provided to ensure that surface water from the driveway 
and/or vehicular turning area does not discharge onto the public highway. No drainage or 
effluent from the proposed development shall be allowed to discharge into any highway drain or 
over any part of the public highway.

 6. The applicant's attention is drawn to the need to ensure that appropriate facilities are 
provided, for the storage and collection of household waste, (i.e. wheelie bins & recycling 
boxes). 
Specific consideration must be given to kerbside collection points, in order to ensure that all 
visibility splays, accesses, junctions, pedestrian crossings and all trafficked areas of highway 
(i.e. footways, cycle ways & carriageways) are kept clear of any obstruction or impediment, at 
all times, in the interests of public and highway safety. 

https://new.shropshire.gov.uk/planning/faqs/ 

 7. The active nests of all wild birds are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended). An active nest is one being built, contains eggs or chicks, or on which 
fledged chicks are still dependent. 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

It is a criminal offence to kill, injure or take any wild bird; to take, damage or destroy an active 
nest; and to take or destroy an egg. There is an unlimited fine and/or up to six months 
imprisonment for such offences.

All vegetation clearance, tree removal, scrub removal and/or conversion, renovation and 
demolition work in buildings should be carried out outside of the bird nesting season which runs 
from March to August inclusive.

If it is necessary for work to commence in the nesting season then a pre-commencement 
inspection of the vegetation and buildings for active bird nests should be carried out. If 
vegetation or buildings cannot be clearly seen to be clear of nests then an appropriately 
qualified and experienced ecologist should be called in to carry out the check. Only if there are 
no active nests present should work be allowed to commence.

 8. Widespread reptiles (adder, slow worm, common lizard and grass snake) are protected 
under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) from killing, injury and trade. 
Widespread amphibians (common toad, common frog, smooth newt and palmate newt) are 
protected from trade. The European hedgehog is a Species of Principal Importance under 
section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. Reasonable 
precautions should be taken during works to ensure that these species are not harmed. 

The following procedures should be adopted to reduce the chance of killing or injuring small 
animals, including reptiles, amphibians and hedgehogs.

If piles of rubble, logs, bricks, other loose materials or other potential refuges are to be 
disturbed, this should be done by hand and carried out during the active season (March to 
October) when the weather is warm. 

Areas of long and overgrown vegetation should be removed in stages. Vegetation should first 
be strimmed to a height of approximately 15cm and then left for 24 hours to allow any animals 
to move away from the area. Arisings should then be removed from the site or placed in habitat 
piles in suitable locations around the site. The vegetation can then be strimmed down to a 
height of 5cm and then cut down further or removed as required. Vegetation removal should be 
done in one direction, towards remaining vegetated areas (hedgerows etc.) to avoid trapping 
wildlife.

The grassland should be kept short prior to and during construction to avoid creating attractive 
habitats for wildlife.

All building materials, rubble, bricks and soil must be stored off the ground, e.g. on pallets, in 
skips or in other suitable containers, to prevent their use as refuges by wildlife.

Where possible, trenches should be excavated and closed in the same day to prevent any 
wildlife becoming trapped. If it is necessary to leave a trench open overnight then it should be 
sealed with a close-fitting plywood cover or a means of escape should be provided in the form 
of a shallow sloping earth ramp, sloped board or plank. Any open pipework should be capped 
overnight. All open trenches and pipework should be inspected at the start of each working day 
to ensure no animal is trapped. 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Any common reptiles or amphibians discovered should be allowed to naturally disperse. Advice 
should be sought from an appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist if large numbers of 
common reptiles or amphibians are present.

If a great crested newt is discovered at any stage then all work must immediately halt and an 
appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist and Natural England (0300 060 3900) should 
be contacted for advice. The Local Planning Authority should also be informed.

If a hibernating hedgehog is found on the site, it should be covered over with a cardboard box 
and advice sought from an appropriately qualified and experienced ecologist or the British 
Hedgehog Preservation Society (01584 890 801). 

 9. Where it is intended to create semi-natural habitats (e.g. hedgerow/tree/shrub/wildflower 
planting), all species used in the planting proposal should be locally native species of local 
provenance (Shropshire or surrounding counties). This will conserve and enhance biodiversity 
by protecting the local floristic gene pool and preventing the spread of non-native species.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

APPENDIX 2

EUROPEAN PROTECTED SPECIES: The ‘three tests’

Application reference number, site name and description:

18/03585/FUL 
Barn South West Of The Grove Ashford Bowdler Shropshire
Conversion and extension to redundant agricultural building to form one dwelling and 
garage, formation of vehicular access and installation of package treatment plant 

Date:

4th September 2018

5th September 2018

Officer:

Sophie Milburn
Assistant Biodiversity Officer
sophie.milburn@shropshire.gov.uk
Tel.: 01743 254765 

Cathryn Robinson
Planning and Enforcement Officer
Email: Cathryn.Robinson@shropshire.gov.uk
Telephone: 01743 257 771

Test 1:
Is the development ‘in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic 
nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment’?

The development involves the conversion of a barn which has become redundant as 
agricultural buildings. The barn is of local heritage interest and assets to the area, 
falling within the Ashford Bowdler Conservation Area and where the building is 
Grade II listed. Adapting the buildings to allow for an alternative use (in this case 
residential dwellings) would ensure the buildings long-term preservation and retain 
physical evidence of the evolution of the area. As identified by national and local 
planning policy the conservation of such heritage assets is considered to be of 
significant public benefit since it has wider social, cultural, economic and 
environmental benefits.
The buildings are a non-renewable resource and its preservation will enable it to be 

mailto:Cathryn.Robinson@shropshire.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

enjoyed by future generations and contribute to the local character and sense of 
place within the immediate surrounding area.

Test 2:
Is there ‘no satisfactory alternative?’

The alternative would be not to convert the barn.  Due to changes in modern 
agricultural practices the building is no longer fit for their original purpose, and if no 
alternative use is found it is likely the building would be left to gradually deteriorate 
risking the long term maintenance and survival of important historic buildings.

Test 3:
Is the proposed activity ‘not detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range’? 

Bat surveys between January and July 2018 identified day roosts for small numbers 
of lone male or non-breeding female common pipistrelles (max count 4) and brown 
long-eared bats (max count 1).

EPS offences under Article 12 are likely to be committed by the development 
proposal, i.e. damage or destruction of an EPS breeding site or resting place and 
killing or injury of an EPS.

The likely offences cannot be avoided through mitigation measures secured through 
planning conditions as the building is going to be converted.

Section 6.1 of the Ecological Appraisal (Greenscape Environmental, January 2018) 
sets out the following mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures, which 
will form part of the licence application:
- The Registered Consultant (RC) will carry out a pre-commencement check.
- ‘Bat(s) will be excluded from the roost areas using one-way exclusion 

techniques where possible.’ ‘Exclusion will be left in situ for 3 days and 
checked by the consultant.’

- ‘Removal of the roof will occur when bats are least likely to be present.’
- ‘The removal of the roof will not take place if the temperature has been below 

4°C for 4 consecutive days and nights.’
- ‘The RC will be present on site when the roof is removed carefully by hand, 

particularly the ridges and around gables.’
- ‘If a bat is found when the RC is not present then work will stop in that area 

IMMEDIATELY and the RC contacted for advice.’
- ‘The bat can only be handled by the RC or authorised person unless it is in 

immediate danger. The bat must be carefully placed in a well ventilated lidded 
box with a small container (preferably a plastic bottle lid) with water in it. The 
container must be kept in a quiet and safe place.’

- ‘Care should be taken to avoid rousing the bat whilst transferring to a suitable 
location, this may be a suitable hibernation box or alternative roost. This must 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

provide a safe, quiet environment with stable cool temperature with relatively 
high humidity which is safe from disturbance.’

- ‘Gaps will be created by leaving a 20mm gap at the end of ridge tiles every 
3m along the roof.’

- ‘Lining material under the ridge will comprise Bitumen Hessian material to BS 
EN 13707:2013 (1F) so bats cannot come into contact with modern 
breathable membranes.’

- ‘Once the building has been re-roofed bat access will be limited by sealing all 
doors and windows, thus reducing the potential for bats to re-enter where they 
are not expected.’

- At least two Schwegler 3FF/1FF bat boxes will be erected in the trees close to 
the field access.

- ‘[A] bat loft is to be installed in the new garage … The following specifications 
should be adhered to when designing the bat loft’:

o ‘The total volume of the void will be 4m wide, 5m long, by 2m high).’
o ‘Skylights will not be placed in the roof section designated as a bat loft’.
o ‘The loft space will have a small access hatch so it can be checked for 

bat activity, but not used for storage’.
o ‘Bitumen hessian lining to F1, BS747 will be used so bats cannot come 

into contact with modern breathable membranes’.
o ‘Access to the bat loft will be made by leaving two ridge tiles slightly 

raised leaving 15mm gaps. Under these areas, slits will be made in the 
membrane’.

o ‘A lead replacement tile and/or a purpose-built ridge access tile will be 
installed on the western aspect of the loft just below gable height to 
allow bat access’.

o ‘Roost opportunities in the bat loft will be made using 1m strips of 
Bitumen Hessian lining at the ridge tile. Gaps and slits will be made in 
these to allow bat access’.

o ‘Wooden bat boxes will be created and erected on the gable ends of 
the bat loft to create further roost opportunity. These will have an 
entrance gap of 15mm’

o ‘The roof space set aside for bats will be insulated between the floor 
and ceiling and not under the tiles … to keep the area the right 
temperature for bats in summer.’

I am satisfied that the proposed development will not be detrimental to the 
maintenance of the populations of common pipistrelles and brown long-eared bats at 
favourable conservation status within their natural range, provided that the conditions 
set out in the response from Sophie Milburn to Consultee Access (dated 24th 
September 2018) are included on the decision notice and are appropriately enforced. 
The conditions are: 
- Working in accordance with protected species survey;
- European Protected Species Licence;
- Erection of bat boxes; and
- Lighting plan. 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Guidance

The ‘three tests’ must be satisfied in all cases where a European Protected Species may be 
affected by a planning proposal and where derogation under Article 16 of the EC Habitats 
Directive 1992 would be required, i.e. an EPS licence to allow an activity which would 
otherwise be unlawful.

In cases where potential impacts upon a European Protected Species can be dealt with by 
appropriate precautionary methods of working which would make derogation unnecessary 
(since no offence under the legislation is likely to be committed), it is not necessary to consider 
the three tests.

The planning case officer should consider tests 1 (overriding public interest) and 2 (no 
satisfactory alternative). Further information may be required from the 
applicant/developer/agent to answer these tests. This should not be a burdensome request as 
this information will be required as part of the Natural England licence application. If further 
information is required, it can be requested under s62(3) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

Test 3 (favourable conservation status) will be considered by SC Ecology, with guidance from 
Natural England.

A record of the consideration of the three tests is legally required. This completed matrix should 
be included on the case file and in the planning officer’s report, and should be discussed and 
minuted at any committee meeting at which the application is discussed.

As well as the guidance provided below, pages 6 and 7 of the Natural England Guidance Note, 
Application of the Three Tests to Licence Applications, may assist the planning officer to 
answer tests 1 and 2. 

Answering the three tests

Test 1
Is the development ‘in the interests of public health and public safety, or for other imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or economic nature and 
beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment’?

Preserving public health or public safety must also be shown to constitute a reason of 
overriding public interest. You need to demonstrate that action is required to alleviate a clear 
and imminent danger to members of the general public, e.g.:

1. If an unstable structure (e.g. a building or tree) is involved, either through neglect or 
outside influences (e.g. severe weather or seismic events), supporting evidence from an 
appropriately qualified person such as a structural engineer, arboriculturalist or tree 
surgeon should be sought.

2. If vandalism or trespass is used as an argument, evidence of reasonable measures to 
exclude the general public from the site must be presented.  Evidence may be provided 
by the local police or fire services in relation to the number of incidents dealt with.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Imperative reasons of overriding public interest
Only public interests can be balanced against the conservation aims of the EC Habitats 
Directive (1992). Projects that are entirely in the interest of companies or individuals would 
generally not be considered covered.

Test 2
Is there ‘no satisfactory alternative?’

An assessment of the alternative methods of meeting the need identified in test 1 should be 
provided. If there are any viable alternatives which would not have an impact on a European 
Protected Species, they must be used in preference to the one that does. Derogations under 
the EC Habitats Directive (1992) are the last resort.

Where another alternative exists, any arguments that it is not satisfactory will need to be 
convincing. An alternative cannot be deemed unsatisfactory because it would cause greater 
inconvenience or compel a change in behaviour.

This test should identify a) the problem or specific situation that needs to be addressed, b) any 
other solutions, and c) whether the alternative solutions will resolve the problem or specific 
situation in (a).

Test 3
Is the proposed activity ‘not detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the species 
concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range’? 

Assessment of the impact of a specific development will normally have to be at a local level 
(e.g. site or population) in order to be meaningful in the specific context.

Two things have to be distinguished in this test: a) the actual conservation status of the species 
at both a biogeographic and a (local) population level; and b) what the impact of the proposal 
would be.

In such cases where the conservation status is different at the different levels assessed, the 
situation at the local population level should be considered first, although ultimately both should 
be addressed.

No derogation under the EC Habitats Directive (1992) can be granted if the proposal would 
have a detrimental effect on the conservation status or the attainment of favourable 
conservation status for a European Protected Species at all levels. The net result of a 
derogation should be neutral or positive for a species.

In the case of the destruction of a breeding site or resting place it is easier to justify derogation 
if sufficient compensatory measures offset the impact and if the impact and the effectiveness of 
compensation measures are closely monitored to ensure that any risk for a species is detected. 

Compensation measures do not replace or marginalise any of the three tests. All three tests 
must still be satisfied.





Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Committee and date

South Planning Committee

23 October 2018

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 18/03586/LBC Parish: Ashford Bowdler 

Proposal: Conversion and extension to redundant agricultural building to form one 
dwelling and garage; change of use of agricultural land to form domestic curtilage; 
formation of vehicular access, and; installation of package treatment plant

Site Address: Barn South West Of The Grove Ashford Bowdler Shropshire  

Applicant: Mr Rob Bryant

Case Officer: Cathryn Robinson email: planningdmc@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 351692 - 270638

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2018  For reference purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Recommendation:-  Grant Consent subject to the conditions set out in Appendix 1.

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL

1.1 This application seeks listed building consent for the conversion of a detached brick 
barn and cart shed to a dwelling; the erection of garage and annexe structure, 
connected to the main dwelling via glazed ‘link’ is also proposed alongside the 
conversion. The formation of a vehicular access, and the installation of package 
treatment plant are also necessary to facilitate the conversion.

1.2 This application is accompanied by a ‘sister’ application seeking
planning permission for the works – 18/03585/FUL which is the subject of a 
separate report on this agenda.

1.3 NOTE: Former applications 12/03758/LBC and 16/00492/LBC approved alterations 
for the residential conversion of this barn. 

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION

2.1 The barn to the south west of The Grove farmhouse is a grade II listed building 
containing stables, a cart shed and a byre. It dates from the 18th century and is 
constructed in brick with a dentil course under the eaves and a tiled hipped roof. 
There is a grass courtyard in front of the building enclosed by a wall constructed 
partly in brick and partly in modern block work. The barn and farmhouse fall within 
the Ashford Bowdler Conservation Area. 

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION 

3.1 The Parish Council have provided views contrary to the Officers recommendation. 
This application has been discussed with the Local Member whom concurs with the 
objection of the Parish Council. The Vice Chair of the South Planning Committee, in 
consultation with the Principal Officer, considers that the material planning 
considerations raised warrant determination by Committee in this case.

4.0 Community Representations

4.1 - Consultee Comments
4.1.1 Ashford Bowdler Parish Council – Object:

Ashford Bowdler Parish Meeting would like to register objections to the planning 
application above. We are broadly supportive of bringing the old coach house back 
into use but not with the changes and design features shown on the latest 
drawings. Others in the village have raised a number of points related to planning 
regulations etc. and we don't propose to repeat them here. 

Ashford Bowdler is a conservation village and its occupants desire it to remain as 
such. The coach house is firmly within the boundaries of the conservation area and 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

is also listed. The features included in this application turn what was a design of its 
time, a Victorian agricultural building, into a creation of the 21st century and that 
adjacent to a largely regency manor house. This would make it out of line with the 
rest of the village the buildings of which are mostly several hundred years of age. 
This flies in the face of the concept of having conservation areas. The design as 
proposed has huge areas of glass, front and back, much of which reaches the 
ground. These features are totally alien in the village. The original structure of the 
barn will be hardly recognisable with the design proposed.

When planning approval was requested by the previous owner less than three 
years ago, there were copious comments from council specialists heavily restricting 
what could be done with this building. One such comment said that there should be 
no windows on the rear elevation due to the proximity to The Grove. There appears 
to be no such comment this time around. Other applications in the village in recent 
times asking to make relatively minor changes to former agricultural buildings have 
been met with strong resistance from the Council. I would hope that the same 
position will be taken for this application.

Another significant issue is that of the garage. It is good to see that the height has 
been reduced twice since the original design. In our view, that really is not 
sufficient. The addition of a room above the garage raises its profile too much and it 
would become quite a dominant feature from the perspective of some neighbouring 
properties and when approaching along the lane. We recommend eliminating the 
room above and changing the roof profile to have a hipped end adjacent to the 
lane.

We do support other comments already made about the disposal of waste water 
from the building. As has been mentioned, the culvert already has a tendency to 
overflow after heavy rain so any extra water from the digester would only 
exacerbate the situation. Other comments made by an expert in water treatment 
also refer to the technical inadequacy of the Klargester unit for a small household. It 
would certainly be unacceptable to have inadequately treated waste being exited 
into the culvert. Treatment of waste here is a major concern. The comments about 
the culvert also are relevant to the construction of the bridge forming the main 
access to the property. This must be done without restriction to flow or we will have 
even more problems with flooding in that area.

In summary, the design needs a major rethink to better align with the rest of this 
conservation village; the water treatment plan should be reconsidered to eliminate 
waste water flowing into the culvert; the garage should be redesigned to avoid it 
being an eyesore.

4.1.2 SC Conservation – No Objections:
27.09.18
These comments supplement those previously submitted on 24/8/18.

The proposed amended plans are noted where there are two principal 
amendments:

- Reduction of the proposed outbuilding/garage height; and



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

- Substitution of proposed window in outbuilding (gable) to a timber shutter (where 
it is noted that this is a means of a fire escape).

These proposed amendments are supported in principle, where the reduction in 
height shall aid subserviency to that of the principal listed building.

24.08.18
This proposal follows pre-application advice that was given as part of 
PREAPP/18/00130, where the principle of the conversion of this listed barn was 
deemed to be acceptable in principle. There were design concerns with the 
proposal, where further amended drawings were submitted for consideration by SC 
Conservation. Also a Structural Survey was requested in accordance with policy 
MD7a of SAMDev, in order to determine whether the barn is capable of conversion 
which is provided as part of these applications.

The proposed revisions for this proposal are noted, including the retention of the 
existing timber shutters that shall be pinned back in order to retain the agricultural 
appearance of the building. New windows have been accommodated by using the 
existing brick recesses, especially on the rear elevation, along with contrasting oak 
cladding, where the windows on the principal front elevation utilise existing 
openings. The main principle issue was how to accommodate the extra bedroom in 
a sensitive manner, given the existing sensitivity of the existing form of the barn, 
where any extension would likely to have a detrimental impact. The principle of a 
contemporary glazed units, supported by green oak, along with a green sedum 
roof, partially hidden by an existing rubblestone boundary wall to a new outbuilding 
was considered, where this was deemed to be the least harmful option and 
therefore retaining the historic legibility of the principal barn building. This also 
utilises the pleasing curvature of the existing rubblestone wall that contributes 
towards the setting of the site, along with the significance of the barn building in 
terms of its historic layout and field pattern. Ashford Bowdler is characterised by 
ancillary outbuildings on the frontage, where this outbuilding should be clearly 
ancillary to the principal listed barn, as well as fitting in with the other buildings that 
are adjacent within the conservation area, as an overall composition. It also affords 
uninterrupted views and linkage towards the rural hinterland beyond, keeping the 
outbuilding contained within the site, without causing undue clutter 

The conclusion of the Structural Survey is noted, where it is deemed that the 
existing barn is capable of conversion with some localised repairs, which is not 
surprising, given the length of time it has remained vacant. This should therefore 
inform a relevant Schedule of Works in terms of what interventions are required to 
the building, including the relevant timber roof structure and the existing brickwork 
that may involve some rebuilding of existing lintels. Conditions are recommended 
below with regards to the extent of the likely works that may be required to the 
existing timber roof structure, along with relevant areas of repointing of the 
brickwork.

Overall, there are no principle objections to this proposal, where the conversion of 
this vacant listed building is supported in principle, subject to conditions.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

4.1.3 SC Archaeology- No Objection:
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Section 199, it 
is recommended that a programme of archaeological work, to comprise an 
archaeological watching brief during any ground works associated with the 
proposed conversion, extension, landscaping and services, be made a condition of 
any planning permission.

4.2 - Public Comments
4.2.1 This application was advertised via notice at the site. Additionally, the residents of 

five neighbouring residents were individually notified by way of publication. At the 
time of writing this report. At the time of writing this report sixteen representations 
had been received.

4.2.2 Of the five neutral representations, the comments raised are surmised as follows – 
 A septic tank should be explored as the preferred drainage option
 Water should not discharge into the existing watercourse since it is prone 

to overflowing and at cold times of year is dangerous due to ice 
 It is unclear whether or not the existing wall shall be sympathetically 

retained where the new access shall be installed; as a a conservation 
area it is important that changes to buildings and other structures are in 
keeping with existing materials

 Preference for a hipped roof, to mimic the existing barn, as to lessen 
prominence from the lane 

 Modern design at odds with the Georgian, Grade 2 listed neighbour.
4.2.4  The eleven objections received are surmised as follows – 

 The extension to the existing barn is considered to have a hugely 
detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the conservation 
area

 The extension will be visible from many public vantage points, and be 
obviously visible above the existing boundary wall

 When entering the village from the East property ‘The Grove’ and this 
redundant agricultural building dominates the view; the proposed 
extension will have an obvious impact to this important arrival into the 
village 

 The garden intrudes into open countryside and the associated residential 
paraphernalia would have a detrimental impact on both the character and 
appearance of the conservation area

 The proposed green roof above the single storey link extension is also 
wholly out of character and would result in a new feature that is not 
present within the conservation area

 The glazing at the front of the link would not have the effect of being a 
lightweight link between two buildings as there is a solid wall to the rear. 

 The partial demolition of the boundary wall, to make way for the new 
access, does not preserve the character or appearance of the 
conservation area

 The proposed glazing would destroy the character and appearance of 
this historic building

 The garden areas are created with new boundary fencing that intrude 
into the open countryside

 The addition of an extension which would more than double the footprint 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

of the existing building clearly has a hugely detrimental impact on the 
character and appearance of the conservation area

 No physical evidence suggests a building was ever sited at this location; 
the historic maps do not support this application 

 The impact to the conservation area is not duly assessed
 The deeper floor plan and gable ends, along with its prominent position  

adjacent to the highway give the impression of an incongruous bulky 
building that would have a dominating impact on the listed building and 
its setting

 There is a window proposed on the southern elevation on the upper floor 
of the extension to bedroom 1. The Granary’ and is only 8.5m away and 
has two windows on its northern elevation to habitable rooms which 
would look directly into bedroom one thus resulting in a loss of residential 
amenity and privacy

 Ground floor windows at ‘The Granary’ will suffer from loss of light
 Submitted amendments considered insufficient to override issues initially 

raised 

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES

Special architectural character and historic interest
Ecology

NOTE: the impact on the broader planning issues is considered within the officers’
report on application 18/03585/FUL

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL

6.1 Special architectural character and historic interest
6.1.1 Section 66 of the (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that 

local planning authorities should pay special regard to the desirability of preserving 
the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. Consideration of the proposal against Shropshire Council 
policies CS6 and CS17 and with national policies and guidance including PPS5 
Historic Environment Planning Practice Guide and section 16 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) shall aid the Local Planning Authority in 
achieving this aim.

6.1.2 The works are accepted in principle, with the increased floor space working to 
ensure the long term safeguarding of the building through the creation of a modern 
family home. The establishment of a ‘detached’ outbuilding, connected to the main 
barn via single storey glazed ‘link’, works to protect the overall character of the 
listed building as a whole by retaining the distinction of its silhouette. The rebuilding 
of the wall along the lane in stone will also be a positive benefit to the appearance 
of the area. Suitable conditions attached to the decision notice shall further monitor 
the development to ensure that no undue harm is caused to the historic buildings 
fabric. Further conditions shall ensure that the materials used are of a high quality 
as not to compromise the character of the listed building.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

6.1.3 The proposed alterations to the listed barn include the provision of windows and 
doors in existing openings on the south and east elevation; these alterations are 
minimal in their nature, making use of and updating existing features rather than 
proposing the insertion of new. New window openings are proposed on the west 
and north elevations. It is noted that levels of glazing proposed to the rear (north) 
elevation is relatively high, thus generally unusual in regards to barn conversions. 
The North elevation is characterized by recesses in its brickwork; the glazing is 
proposed to be located within these recesses, as to allow the character and form of 
this wall to be retained as much as possible rather than randomly placed windows 
punctuating the rear elevation. 

6.2 Ecology
6.2.1 The barn is a maternity roost for a small number of Brown Long-eared bats. These 

are protected species and a European Protected Species Mitigation Licence will be 
required from Natural England as the conversion will result in disturbance. A bat loft 
will be provided as part of a mitigation strategy and an EPS matrix is included as an 
appendix to the report on planning application 18/03585/FUL, which is also on this 
agenda.
 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposed development is not considered to result in the loss of significant 

historic fabric nor harm the principal special architectural character and historic 
interest of the listed building. The scheme complies with the main objectives of 
relevant development plan policies and Government Guidance relating to 
conserving and enhancing the historic environment. It is recommended that listed 
building consent is granted.  

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as 
follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they 
disagree with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can 
be awarded irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. 
written representations, hearing or inquiry.

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third 
party. The courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or 
misapplication of policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the 
principles of natural justice. However their role is to review the way the 
authorities reach decisions, rather than to make a decision on the 
planning issues themselves, although they will interfere where the 
decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. Therefore they 
are concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning merits. A 
challenge by way of Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) in 
any event not later than six weeks after the grounds to make the claim 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal 
against non-determination for application for which costs can also be 
awarded.

8.2 Human Rights

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First 
Protocol Article 1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These 
have to be balanced against the rights and freedoms of others and the 
orderly development of the County in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be 
balanced against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of 
the public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be 
one of a number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in 
Planning Committee members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.

9.0 Financial Implications

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent 
on the scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are 
capable of being taken into account when determining this planning 
application – insofar as they are material to the application. The weight given 
to this issue is a matter for the decision maker.

10.  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies

Central Government Guidance:
National Planning Policy Framework

Shropshire Core Strategy and Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) 
Plan Policies:



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS17 - Environmental Networks
MD2 - Sustainable Design
MD13 - Historic Environment

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

12/03444/FUL Conversion of agricultural building to a two-storey dwelling; formation of 
vehicular access; installation of package treatment plant GRANT 21st February 2013
12/03758/LBC Alterations in association with conversion of agricultural building to a two storey 
dwelling GRANT 21st February 2013
16/00491/FUL Conversion of agricultural building to form one dwelling; formation of vehicular 
access; installation of package treatment plant GRANT 16th June 2016
16/00492/LBC Alterations in association with conversion of agricultural building to a two storey 
dwelling (renewal of planning permission 12/03758/LBC) GRANT 16th June 2016
HEPRE/16/00290 Proposed general repairs affecting grd II listed building LBCRQ 25th 
November 2016
18/03585/FUL Conversion and extension to redundant agricultural building to form one dwelling 
and garage; change of use of agricultural land to form domestic curtilage; formation of vehicular 
access, and; installation of package treatment plant PDE 
SS/1/7904/T/ Felling of an Oak tree PERCON 20th August 1997
SS/1/6041/U/ Felling and lopping of trees OBJECT 24th October 1995
SS/1/00/11132/TC Felling of Leylandii trees. NOOBJ 27th July 2000

11.       Additional Information

View details online: 

https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=PCUI6YTDFFW00

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)
Design and Access Statement including Heritage Assessment
Structural Survey
Ecology Report

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Cllr R. Macey
Local Member  
Cllr Vivienne Parry
Appendices
APPENDIX 1 - Conditions

https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=PCUI6YTDFFW00
https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=details&keyVal=PCUI6YTDFFW00


Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

APPENDIX 1

Conditions

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 (As amended)

  2. All works shall be carried out in complete accordance with the terms of the application 
and approved plans.  
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of the Heritage Asset.

  3. Work shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the Phase 2 Bat Activity Survey & 
Mitigation Report conducted by Greenscape Environmental Ltd (July 2018). Bat boxes and bat 
loft must be permanently retained for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To ensure the protection of Bats, a European Protected Species

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL BEFORE THE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

  4. No development, demolition or site clearance procedures shall commence until a 
European Protected Species (EPS) Mitigation Licence with respect to Bats has been obtained 
and submitted to the local planning authority for the proposed work prior to the commencement 
of works on the site. Work shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the granted EPS 
Mitigation Licence.

Reason: To ensure the protection of Bats, a European Protected Species

  4. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a photographic 
survey (Level 1) survey, as defined in English Heritage's guidance 'Understanding Historic 
Buildings: A Guide to Good Recording Practice') of the interior/ exterior of the buildings has 
been be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: This information is required before development commences to record the historic 
fabric of the building prior to development.

  5. Prior to the commencement of the works a timber-by-timber inspection of the structural 
frame, its components and joints shall be undertaken.  This inspection shall inform a fully 
detailed scheme of repairs which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the commencement of the relevant works.  The scheme shall include:
- A method statement, having regard to the structural integrity of the frame 
- Plans, sections and elevations at a scale of not less than 1:50 showing full details of the 
components to be repaired or replaced, 
- A complete specification for replacement timbers,
- The proposed methods of repair, and 
- The type of surface treatments or decorative finishes to be applied.
Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of the Heritage Asset.



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

  6. A schedule of building works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to any works commencing.  No work shall be carried out other than in 
accordance with the approved schedule.  All existing original features shall be retained in situ 
unless it is specifically shown on the approved plans that they are to be removed.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL DURING THE CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO 
THE OCCUPATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT

  7. Prior to the above ground works commencing samples and/or details of the timber 
cladding to be used in the construction of the external walls of the proposed outbuilding shall 
be submitted to and  approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development 
shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.
Reason:  To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.

  8. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the historic roof 
structure will be retained and repaired. A method detailing the extent of the repairs and any 
replacement timbers shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to any roofing works on the existing barn commencing. The work shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural interest and character of the Listed Building in 
accordance with policy CS6 of the Council's Core Strategy.

  9. In relation to the new outbuilding and link extension, no roof works shall commence until 
details of the roof construction including details of eaves, undercloaks ridges, valleys and 
verges are submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in complete accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

 10. The existing blockwork boundary wall shall be removed and the wall rebuilt in natural 
stone in accordance with the approved plans. The natural stone which shall be geologically 
compatible with the adjoining walls and shall match it in size, shape, colour and surface finish.  
Samples of stone for use in the new wall shall be made available to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before the removal of the existing blockwork commences.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Listed 
Building.

 11. Before the relevant parts of the work are commenced, details of roofing materials, 
including ridge materials and detailing, together with the method of ventilating the roof voids 
and the method of fixing these items, shall be submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed details. 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory preservation of the Heritage Asset.

 12. Details of exterior soil and vent pipes, waste pipes, rainwater goods, boiler flues and 
ventilation terminals, meter boxes, exterior cabling and electrical fittings shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the commencement of the 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

aforementioned works. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.
Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Heritage 
Asset.

 13. Mortar for bedding and jointing the stonework in the boundary wall shall be a lime mortar 
unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.  A sample panel of stonework 
approximately 1m square shall be erected on site and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the relevant work commences.  External stonework shall not be 
treated with a waterproofing solution.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory preservation of the Listed Building.

 14. No pointing or re-pointing of existing or proposed masonry shall commence until the 
Local Planning Authority has approved the following items in writing:
- a drawing showing the proposed area(s) of repointing 
- the mortar mix
- the method of removing existing mortar, please note that old mortar shall not be 

removed using any mechanical tool or angle grinder.  
- an inconspicuous pointing sample provided on site following approval of the above items

 Reason: To safeguard the historic interest and character of the Listed Building and ensure an 
appropriate external appearance.

 15. The roof windows shall be of the traditional low profile metal pattern and details shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the 
commencement of the relevant works. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details.

Reason: To safeguard the architectural interest and character of the building in accordance 
with policy CS6 of the Council's Core Strategy.

 16. The proposed flues shall have a dark matt finish of a colour which shall first be approved 
in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Listed Building 
in accordance with policy CS6 of the adopted Core Strategy.

 17. The window frames and doors of the proposed development shall be constructed of 
timber and details of the proposed finishes for all external joinery shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the relevant work commences.

Reason:  To ensure that the development is of a design sympathetic to the character of the 
Listed Building in accordance with policy CS6 of the Council's Core Strategy.

 18. No joinery works shall commence until precise details of all external windows and doors 
and any other external joinery have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  These shall include full size details, 1:20 sections and 1:20 elevations of 
each joinery item which shall then be indexed on elevations on the approved drawings. 



Planning Committee – 23 October 2018 Barn South West Of The Grove, 
Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Listed 
Building.

 19. A total of 12 artificial nests suitable for small birds such swallow and wren, as 
recommended within the Phase 2 Bat Activity Survey & Mitigation Report conducted by Pearce 
Environment Ltd (January 2012), shall be erected on the site prior to first occupation of the 
buildings hereby permitted.

Reason: To ensure the provision of nesting opportunities for wild birds

 20. Prior to the erection of any external lighting on the site a lighting plan shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details and thereafter retained for the lifetime of the 
development. The submitted scheme shall be designed to take into account the advice on 
lighting set out in the Bat Conservation Trust booklet Bats and Lighting in the UK 

Reason: To minimise disturbance to bats, a European Protected Species.

CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT

 21. All gutters, downpipes, soil and vent pipes and other external plumbing shall be of cast 
iron or cast aluminium unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the architectural and historic interest and character of the Listed Building 
in accordance with policy CS6 of the adopted Core Strategy.

 22. All new external work and finishes and work of making good shall match the existing 
work adjacent, in respect of materials used, detailed execution and finished appearance. 

Reason: To ensure satisfactory preservation of the building in accordance with policy CS6 of 
the Council's Core Strategy.

-





Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Development Management Report

SCHEDULE OF APPEALS AND APPEAL DECISIONS

AS AT 23rd October 2018

LPA reference 17/02428/FUL
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr David Steele
Proposal Siting of 3 temporary wooden structures, bell tent 

along with a kitchen area and WC / shower block to 
include change of use from agricultural land to a 
Glamping site

Location Proposed Campsite At Highfield Farm
Hilton
Bridgnorth
Shropshire WV15 5NZ

Date of appeal 19.6.18
Appeal method Written Representation

Date site visit 14.8.18
Date of appeal decision 20.9.18

Costs awarded
Appeal decision Dismissed

LPA reference 17/05250/PMBPA
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mark Harding
Proposal Application for prior approval under Schedule 2, Part 

3, Class Q of the Town & Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 for the change 
of use from agricultural to residential use

Location Agricultural Building North Of New Road
Oreton
Kidderminster
DY14 0TW

Date of appeal 10.10.18
Appeal method Written Representation

Date site visit
Date of appeal decision

Costs awarded
Appeal decision

Committee and date

South Planning Committee

23 October 2018





  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 14 August 2018 

by Thomas Hatfield  BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 20th September 2018 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/W/18/3198157 

Highfield Farm, Hilton, Bridgnorth, WV15 5NZ 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Mark David Steele against the decision of Shropshire Council. 

 The application Ref 17/02428/FUL, dated 17 May 2017, was refused by notice dated 19 

September 2017. 

 The development proposed is described as “change of use from agricultural land to a 

glamping site. To provide 5 temporary wooden structures and temporary bell tent along 

with a kitchen area and WC/shower block”. 
 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matter 

2. The development has already been constructed and the appeal is therefore 

retrospective in nature. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are: 

(a) Whether the proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt 
having regard to the National Planning Policy Framework (‘the 

Framework’) and development plan policy; 

(b) The effect of the proposal on the openness of the Green Belt;  

(c) Whether the proposal is in an accessible location as required by 

development plan policy; 

(d) If the proposal is inappropriate development, whether the harm by 

reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed 

by other considerations so as to amount to the very special 
circumstances necessary to justify the development. 

Reasons 

Inappropriate development in Green Belt 

4. Paragraph 145 of the Framework states that the construction of new buildings 
in the Green Belt is inappropriate, subject to a number of exceptions.  One 

such exception is the provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport and 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/18/3198157 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

outdoor recreation; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green 

Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. 

5. The development consists of a number of small structures that are located on 

formerly agricultural land.  These structures are used as holiday 
accommodation and therefore do not represent a facility for outdoor sport or 
recreation.  In this regard, Paragraph 145(b) of the Framework does not 

extend to visitor accommodation such as this.   

6. The development has introduced new buildings onto land that was previously 

open and used for agriculture.  In my view, it constitutes an encroachment into 
the countryside, and therefore conflicts with one of the purposes of including 
land within the Green Belt.  In this regard, there is nothing in the Framework to 

suggest that this purpose only applies to larger developments.  In addition, for 
the reasons set out below, I consider that the development fails to preserve the 

openness of the Green Belt. 

7. I conclude that the proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt, 
which Paragraph 143 of the Framework states is harmful by definition and 

should not be approved except in very special circumstances.  The proposal is 
also contrary to the relevant sections of Policy CS5 of the Shropshire Core 

Strategy (2011) and Policy MD6 of the Shropshire Site Allocations and 
Management of Development Plan (2015), which seek to protect the Green Belt 
from inappropriate development. 

Openness 

8. The development has introduced additional built footprint and volume onto land 
that was previously open.  It is also clearly visible in longer views from the 

west and south west and appears as an encroachment into the countryside 
from these positions.  The development therefore fails to preserve the 
openness of the Green Belt.  The Framework advises at Paragraph 133 that 

openness is an essential characteristic of Green Belts, and the appeal proposal 
therefore causes harm in this regard. 

9. I conclude that the appeal proposal fails to preserve the openness of the Green 
Belt.  This further harms the objectives of the Green Belt to which the 
Government attaches significant importance. 

Accessibility 

10. Policy CS16 of the Shropshire Core Strategy (2011) encourages the 

development of visitor accommodation “in accessible locations served by a 
range of services and facilities”.  It further states that in rural areas, proposals 
must be “close to or within settlements, or an established and viable tourism 

enterprise where accommodation is required”. 

11. The appeal site is surrounded by open countryside and is some distance from 

services, facilities, and public transport connections.  Whilst there is a farm 
shop at the end of the drive between the site and the B4176 that is some 
distance away, and the Council state that it is only authorised to sell goods 

produced on the associated farm.  There are bus stops along the A454 to the 
south and east although the appellant states that services are hourly, which is 

infrequent.  In any case, the routes to both the farm shop and the bus stops 
are along unlit tracks that generally have no footway.  These are not attractive 
pedestrian routes, especially in poor light, which would discourage the use of 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/18/3198157 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

these facilities.  Visitors to the site would therefore be heavily reliant on the 

use of a car or other vehicle. 

12. For the above reasons, I conclude that the proposal is not in an accessible 

location as required by development plan policy.  It is therefore contrary to the 
relevant sections of Policies CS6 and CS16 of the Shropshire Core Strategy 
(2011), and Policy MD11 of the Shropshire Site Allocations and Management of 

Development Plan (2015).  These policies seek to ensure, amongst other 
things, that new visitor accommodation is accessible to services and facilities. 

Other considerations 

13. The appellant states that the development provides a significant source of 
income to the business as a farm diversification project.  In this regard, it is 

asserted that it helps to keep a small farming unit viable in a living working 
countryside.  However, this line of reasoning would equally apply to most farm 

diversification projects.  Moreover, this site could be separated from the 
agricultural business in the future, regardless of the appellant’s current 
intentions. 

14. Policy CS5 of the Shropshire Core Strategy (2011) encourages small-scale farm 
diversification schemes.  However, that encouragement is caveated as being 

“subject to the further controls over development that apply to the Green Belt”.  
Accordingly, the proposal does not accord with Policy CS5 in this regard. 

15. The development is adjacent to a tall hedgerow and has limited visibility from 

the nearest roads.  It is also constructed in natural materials such as timber, 
which are sympathetic to a rural setting.  However, it is clearly visible in longer 

views from the west and south west and appears as an encroachment into the 
countryside from these positions. 

16. The appellant states that the Council has granted consent for a number of 

developments in the surrounding area in more visually prominent locations.  
However, the Council states that these examples were either not inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt, or were constructed under permitted 
development rights.  Moreover, I note that none of these examples proposed 
new visitor accommodation.  They are therefore not directly comparable to the 

current appeal proposal. 

17. It is common ground that the site was once identified as a Certified Location by 

the Caravan Club.  However, the site has not been used for that purpose for 
some time.  The proposal therefore does not represent an “expansion of an 
existing established business” (my emphasis) for the purposes of Policy CS5. 

18. The development contributes to the rural economy and to the role of 
Shropshire as a tourist destination.  However, these benefits are common to 

most forms of new visitor accommodation. 

Other Matter 

19. The accommodation structures are relatively lightweight and the appellant 
states that they could easily be removed.  However, they are stationed on the 
site for most of the year and therefore do not comprise temporary structures. 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/18/3198157 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

Conclusion 

20. The proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt and has 
reduced openness in this location.  The Framework states that substantial 

weight should be given to any harm to the Green Belt.  Even when taken 
together, the other considerations in this case do not outweigh the harm to the 
Green Belt, and the poor accessibility of the appeal site.  Consequently, the 

very special circumstances necessary to justify the development do not exist.  
The development is therefore contrary to Policies CS5, CS6 and CS16 of the 

Shropshire Core Strategy (2011), Policies MD6 and MD11 of the Shropshire 
Site Allocations and Management of Development Plan (2015), and guidance 
contained in the Framework. 

21. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 
 

Thomas Hatfield  

INSPECTOR 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Housing Development Site, Sidney Road, Ludlow, Shropshire, SY8 1SQ (17/05170/FUL)
	6 Barn South West Of The Grove, Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire (18/03585/FUL)
	7 Barn South West Of The Grove, Ashford Bowdler, Shropshire (18/03586/LBC)
	8 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions
	Appeal Decision -17-02428-FUL


